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About Us

Alexander Mining plc is a mining and
mineral processing technology company
with a reputation for strong technical
management, allied with financial
markets expertise and experience.

It is quoted on AIM and the
TSX Venture Exchange.
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Highlights

e In South Africa - AmmLeach®
copper/cobalt demonstration pilot plant
established in collaboration with
MC Process (Pty) Ltd in Johannesburg

* Pilot plant to be used for testing bulk
representative samples from the
Democratic Republic of Congo (‘DRC’)
and elsewhere.

e First AmmLeach® plant in the world to
showcase process In two circuits through
to copper and cobalt cathode metal,
compared with majonty of DRC cobalt
currently produced as an intermediate
product

* In the DRC - Patent for a Method of
Ammoniacal Leaching granted and
important progress with copper/cobalt
opportunities

In Australia - Method for Leaching of a
Copper-containing Ore patent granted plus
favourable testwork for Altona Mining on
samples from its Roseby copper project

In Turkey - Red Crescent Resources to
Investigate AmmLeach® technology for
copper and zinc projects

In Guatemala - AmmLeach® second
stage testwork discussions with
Firestone Ventures
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Our Focus

The Company's activities are directed towards the objective of
becoming a highly profitable and diversified mining technology
company - worldwide. This will be achieved from the
commercialisation of its proprietary MetaLeach® mineral
processing technologies.

Copper
Znc
Copper & Copper-Cobalt

USA

Positive zinc exade AmmlLeach®
testwork for Firestone Vertures

Posttive znc oxide AmmLeach®

in Nevada

Guatemala

Positive zinc oxide Ammlbeach?®

testwork for Firestone Ventures.
Maexico
Attractive zinc and copper
opportunities identified and
investigated Peru

testwork for Rio Cnstal
Chile
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Our Focus
continued

Key base metals regions
for volume and growth

e DRC Copperbeft

* Central and South Amenca
copper and zinc provinces

Turkey

Red Crescent Resources to
mvesbgate AmmLeach® for zinc
and copper prajects.

Democratic Republic of Congo

Important AmmLeach®
copper/cobalt opportunities.

Patent granted

South Afnca
Patent granted
Demonstration pliot plant

Mining companies with high-acid-
consuming copper, copper-cobalt and
zinc carbonate/oxide operations

Companies with undeveloped deposits

Australia

AmmULesach® copper
patent grarmted
Favourable testwork for
Atona Mining
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Chairman’s Statement

“Our business objective is clear - to capitalise

on our breakthrough AmmLeach® mineral
processing technology.”

Matt Sutcliffe
Executive Chalrman

| am pleased to report that since my statement in last year's annual
report, Alexander has made steady progress in advancing its plan
to commercialise its propnetary breakthrough AmmLeach® minerat
procassing technology

Alexander's technology 1s applicable to the extracton of several
important base metals from high-acid-consuming ores (N many pars

of the world Dunng the year, we have continued to test samples from

a growing number of projects and engage in discussions with vanous
companies and groups about commercial adoption of the technology
Bacause of confidentality agreements, disclosure has been restncted

1o those opportunities where we are able to put the news inte the public
domain However, we can say that based on this work and coupled with
what has been announced, the geographic spread has expanded further
to potentially significant countries and regions of the world

Importantly, the diversification 15 not just geographic but also by metal,
covenng a range of mineral types To date, we have tested dozens of
different samples, which has enabled us to create an invaluable database
of know-how and intellectual property Although some intiatives have
advanced less rapidly than we would have liked, due to factors beyond
our control, our belief in the fundamentat ability of AmmLeach® to
transform the extraction process efficiencies and econormics for many
base metals is unshakeable

Two countnes with major patential and where we have announced
significant initizbives are Australia and Turkey, the former mainly for copper
and the latter for copper and zinc In Turkey, we announced Red Crescent
Resources Limited’s RCRY intention 1o investigate the use of
Ammt_each® technology for the pnmary recovery of copper and zinc from
the oxide mineralisation at several of its base metals projects in Turkey

At RCR's Hakkar Zinc flagship project in far south-east Turkey, the use
of Ammleach® as part of a full feasibiity study on an optimised process
engineering solution for prirmary zinc metal production 1s planned Also,
at RCR's Sivas copper project In north-east central Turkey, RCR hopes
to deliver early production through the potential apphcation of
Alexander's propnetary oxide (AmmlLeach®) and sulphide (HyperLeach®)
technologies wia technical collaboration

In Queensiand, Australia, we have camed out preliminary amenability
testwork for Altona Mining Limited (*Altona’) to investigate the use of
AmmiLeach® technology for copper recovery at its Roseby Project
Encouraging results have been obtatned and reported to Altona, with the
next stage pending discussions with Altona. We believe that Queensiand
hoids considerable potental for the applicaton of AmmLeach®
technology for copper and other base metals

Moving to Latin Amenca, we have investigated the application of
AmmLeach® technology for the owners of several copper and/or zinc
oxide deposits. An ongoing relabonship with Firestone Ventures Inc
(‘Firestona’}, after favourable intial testwork and scoping studies, has fed
Firestone to select the AmmLeach® process for its Torlon Hill Zinc-Lead-
Sitver Oxide Project in Guatemala, Firestone 1s in discussions with
Alexander onh proposals, dependent upon Firestone funding, for further
bench-scale work, column testing and a demonstration test plant
designed to test further the application of the AmmlLeach® process to
feasibility study standard This follows on from Firestone’s extensive
preliminary metallurgical testwork on the Torlon Hill deposit using a vanety
of alternative processing methods We are delighted that Firestone has
selected AmmlLeach® as its preferred processting method at Torlon Hill,
as well as for other potential Guatemala sources of feedstock We greatly
look forward to worlang with Firestone to advance its projects

In the Copperbeit of the Democratic Republic of the Congo ({DRC),
one of the most Important copper/cobalt Ammleach® target regions,
we have made a concerted effort to advance the adoption of our
tachnology In particular, this included the joint venture partnership
agreement announced with Anvit Mining Limited (‘Anwil’) on its Mutoshi
copper and cobalt project ('Mutoshr’} in the Kolwezi region, DRG
Progress with this opportunity stalled 1n iate 2011 as Anvil became
subject to a takeover bid, now completad successfully, by Minmetals
Resources Limited We look forward to discussing the Mutoshi project
with the new owners to ascertan their intentions

We also undertock AmmLeach® testwork for Tiger Resources Limited
(Tiger’) on ore from its Kipor copper/cobalt project in the DRC This was
to investigate the use of AmmlLeach® for processing matenal from the
Kipot Central Stage 1 Pit, which contains approximately 4,500t of cobalt
In addition, Alexander completed detailed pilot plant design engineenng
for the project and submitted this work to Tiger We await news of Tiger's
intentions for the project
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Chairman’s Statement
continued

Separately in the Copperbefl, Alexander has camed out detalled
nvestgations of other opporturuities This has included collecting
samples for testing, under our supervision, at the premises of

MC Process (Pty) 1td (‘MC Process’) tih Johannesburg MC Process is
our partner of choice for Afnca and a specialist in the design and
manufacture of minerals processing equipment, especially solvent
extraction plants MC Process has considerable expenence in the
Copperbeit and other countnes in Afnca and has been working closely
with us to Investigate attractive opportunities The testwork results have
been excellent and, as part of our collaboration with MC Process, we
have jointly moved to establish a demenstration pilct plant at

MC Process’s premises for bigger representative samples which have
been delivered from the DRC The results from the plant will be
invaluable for design and scale up to a full size commercial plant

In addition, the plant will be an excellent showcase for our
commercialisation actvities

We have continued to protect ngorously our intellectual property ('IP’)
A major milestone In the protection of the Company’s AmmLeach® IP
was reached when Alexander’s Metal.each Limited {'Metaleach”)
subsldtary was granted a Standard Patent in Australla for a Method for
Leaching of a Copper-contaning Ore This was particularty noteworthy
given Australia’s robust patenting regime and status as having one of
the world's biggest mining industnes, with significant potantial for our
AmmLeach® technology Our first patent for a Method for Ammoniacal
Leactuing was granted in the Republic of South Afnca in 2010 and
Alexander recently announced that it had receved notification from the
Minustry of Industry of the DRC that Metaleach had been granted the
same patent in the DRAC We expect regular news flow about our sutte
of patents as our other specific applications progress through the
vanous stages of the patenting process

We announced early last year the sale of our wholly owned subsidiary
Alexander Gold Group Limited, including the former Leon copper project
The terms of the sale were for a down payment of US$400,000 plus 18
monthly payrnents of US$100,000, commencing March 2011 According
to the schedule, the last payment due will be in August 2012 As well as
making an iImportant contrnbution to our overheads, a recent meeting
with the Argentinean purchasers confirmed therr intention to brng the
project inte production using our AmmlLeach® technology under hcence
This would be partcularty gratifying as this 1s where AmmLeach® was
pioneered Although the terms of using Ammt.each® are subject to
discussion and finalisation, we have already agreed the pnnciple of
granting a icence In exchange for a gress sales rovalty and to prowvde
any necessary technical assistance with the project development

Outiook

The world economy and financial markets have been highly volatile
Market turmoil in the second half of 2011, due to the, as yet, unresotved
European sovereign debt cnsis, impacted negatively upon base metals
pnces Howaver, the fallout was not as bad as many had feared and the
better start to global-stock markets in 2012 has seen base metals prices
in general recover notably from the August 2011 lows The reality is that,
outside of the troubled Eure Zone, global growth has held up well, as
usual fuelled by China, India and Brazil which are the key regions for
growth in base metals demand

We look forward to healthy base metals pnces in the foreseeabls future
Moreover, given general industry expectations that the demand for the
main base metals, including copper and zinc, will grow significantty in the
next few decades, we believe that the environment in the global mining
industry for the commercial adoption of our technology will be excellant
and ulimately prowide significant returns to shareholders

As always, | would ke to mark my grateful appreciation for the
continued hard work and dedication of Alexander's employees,
consultants and directors

Matt Sutcliffe
Executive Chairman
8 May 2012
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CEO’s Business Review

“The outstanding prospects for the Company’s
proprietary leaching technologies are supported
by the mining industry’s inexorable pressure to

replenish its ore reserves.”

Martin Rosser
Chief Executive Officer

Introduction

Wa have spent the last year diligently workeng towards the objective of
secunng commercial adoption of our AmmlLeach® technology Good
progress has been made Atthough we have yet to announce our first
spectfic agreement detailing commercial adoption terms, we remain
confident about secuning such an outcome We have continued domg a
vanety of amenability testwork programmes on third party samples from
a growing nurmber of deposits In many muning countnes of the world
Some of these have been announced but due to confidentiality
agreements, many have not Newly announced countnes hosting
potentially amenable deposits are Turkey and Australta, The majornty

of deposits tested are for copper, copper-cobalt and zinc recovery

It remains the case that the excellent prospects for the Company’s
propretary leaching technologies are supported by the favourable
fundarnentals of the global rmining industry The commodity super cycle,
which started in the early part of the last decade, may have matured but
base metals pnces are still at attractive real levels. The outlook remains
posttive, with the global mining industry under enormous pressure to
replace its ore reserves just to maintan the status quo, let alone satisfy
increased base metals demand This demand 1s based on growing per
capita consumption in the world's devetoping countres Accordingly, the
role of technology in improving explotation options and economics, and
n particular in the field of mineral processing, 1s we believe one of
growing iImportance to the industry

QOur focus has been on securing agreements with third parties that
will eventually lead to the establishment of pilot plants to demonstrate
AmmLeach® recovering the three most prospective metals of copper,
cobalt and zinc This would be the pre-cursor to a decision to commut
to using the AmmLeach® process In new mines on commercial terms
to be agreed

Alexander has adopted a flexuble dual approach to the commercialisation
of its technology We will consider erther 1ssuing a licence in exchange for
royattes/and or fees and/or minonty equity interests in projects As a
result, we have had, and continue to have, discussions with muttnational,
major, Intermediate and junior companies about using the Company's
leaching technology, pnncipally for copper, copper/cobalt and zZinc

Progress announced in the last year i1s descnbed below

Red Crescent Resources - Turkey
Alexander will collaborate with Red Crescent Resources Uimited ('RCR’)

to investigate the use of AmmLeach® technology for the pnmary recovery

of copper and zinc from the oxide minerahsaticn at several of RCR's base
metals projects in Turkey In Turkey, RCR 15 tangeting historically
naccessible areas for applicaton of modem mining and exploration
techniques and technology to develop the full potential of known metal
and mineral assets that exhibit strong scalability and high grade

At RCR's Hakkan Zinc flagship project in far south-east Turkey, a full
feasibility study on an optimised process engineering solttion utilsing
Ammleach® for pnmary zinc metal production is planned Furthermore,
RCR has identified secondary potential which it believes to be In excess
of 1 5 milton tonnes of lower grade non-Direct Shippable Ore ('DSO%
reject znc material dumped regionally In Hakkan over the past 10 years
by small scale miners RCR beliaves this may be a major potential
opportunity for low cost processing using AmmLeach® An early concept
engineenng study for the gathenng and processing of this mineralised
matenal 15 planned

RCR's other flagship project s the SIVAS Copper project in north-east
centrat Turkey Sivas has promising potential for the development of a
resource base In excess of 150M tonnes grading +1% copper equivalent
{with possible nickel and gold credits) The plan Is to deliver early
production through investigating the potential application of Alexander’s
propretary oxide (AmmLeach®) and sulphide (HyperLeach®)
technologies via a technical cooperation
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CEOQO’s Business Review
continued

MetalLeach?® will revolutionise the
extraction processes for many base
metals deposits by reducing costs,
enhancing operating margins and
increasing production.
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CEO'’s Business Review
continued

One of the key benefits of the
AmmLeach® process is that, unlike some
new technologies, it requires no special
purpose built equipment.

The process utilises ammonia based
chemistry to selectively extract metals
from ores under ambient temperature
and pressure conditions.
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CEO’s Business Review
continued

DRCG - toll treating plant

Along with announced opporturities in the DRC, other parties have been
In discussions about using AmmLeach® in the Copperbeit due to the
potentialty large capital and operating cost savings Accordingly, an
AmmLeach® plant operating In the region would be ideally placed for
captalising on the huge strategic opportunity due to the superabundance
of high-acid-consuming carbonate copper-cobalt deposits

Alexander has been Investgating the feasibirty of establishing an
AmmLeach® toll treatment ptant in a favourable Copperbeit location

MC Process Collaboration

Alexander has, in partnership with MC Process of South Africa,
completed construction of an AmmlLeach® copper/cobalt demonstration
pilot plant in Johannesburg, and has commenced commissioning the
plant using bulk ore samples from the DRC

MC Process 1s Alexander's partner of choice for AmmLeach® plant
design and engineening in Afnca and 1t 1s dedicated to the design and
manufacture of minerals processing equipment, especially solvent
extracton electro-winning (‘SX-EW’) plants Moreover, it has considerable
expenence with designing and establishing SX-EW plants in the DRC
and other countnes in Afnca

As part of Alexander’s initiatives in the DRC, we have collected a
significant range of copper and cobalt mineralisation samples from the
DRC for inthal laboratory amenability testing The testwork results have
been highly encouraging and jointly we have now established a pilot plant
at MC Process'’s premises Inihially, the plant will be used for testing larger
bulk representative samples which have been delivered from the DRC,
but will be capable of treating other base metal deposit types

The AmmLeach® copper/cobalt process has particular relevance to the
DRC which accounts for around 53% of world mine production in 2011
and 45% of world reserves (source US Geological Survey January
2012) Moreover, the majority of cobalt currently produced in the DRC 1s
as an intermediate product The AmmlLeach® copper/cobalt process is
simpler and requires fawer unit processes to produce copper and cobalt
metal cathode, resutting in significantly reduced capital and operating
costs compared to the conventional acid/SO, process Given the
tnherent high costs associated with operating within the DRC using
conventional technology, AmmlLeach® has the potential to enable the
processing of a significantly greater number of deposits that have to
date been considered marginal or uneconomic to develop

Furthermore, the AmmLeach® process may economically treat high
carbonate and acid consurming ore bodies that are prevalent in the DRC
and which may not be econormically treated using acid leaching, and is
also ideally suited to heap leaching lower’ grade ore bodies

The results from the pilot plant wili be invaluable for design and scale
up to a full size commercial ptant

The pilot plant will be the first in Africa to showease Alexander’s
nnovative AmmLeach® technology producing both copper and cobalt
metal from two crcuts in the one plant It will be integral to Alexander’s
business development plans for the DRC Copperbelt and also for testing
matenal from copper and cobalt projects in other parts of Africa and the
world The ability for third parties to see the Amml_each® process
working will be invaluable for its commercialisation

Altona Mining - Australa

Late last year, Aitona Mining Limited (‘Altona’) engaged Alexander

to Inveshgate the use of AmmlLeach® technology for the recovery of
copper from the oxide ore zone at its Little Eva depostt, part of sts major
Roseby Project, in northwest Queensland, Australla Roseby 1s one of
the largest copper resources in Australla and a Defintive Feasibility
Study was completed in 2009 Permitting 1s neanng completion and
Altona 1s optimising the study to target copper producton up to 40,000
tonnes per annum

Subsaquently, the scope of the AmmLeach® testwork was expanded to
include representative samples from the nearby Blackard deposit, also
part of the Roseby Project Four samples were selected by Aftona to be
tested from different mineralisation zones at Blackard {3) and Little Eva (1)

The Blackard deposit currently has a resource of 46 3Mt at 0 63%
copper (291,000t contained copper), of which a significant portion
(~80%) 15 In what 15 called the Natve Copper zone Ammieach® results
for the varnous mineralisation zones showed that this matenal was the
most arnenable, with highly encouraging copper racovenes into solution
of >80% Alexander and Altona are now discussing the recommended
next stage of testwork for this zone

Firestone Ventures - Guatemaia

Firestone Ventures Inc (‘Firestone’) has decided to advance

investigating the use of AmmLeach® at its Todon Hill zinc project in
Guatemala. Firestone 1s In discussions with Alexander on proposals for
further bench-scale work, colurmn testing and a demonstration test plant
designed to test further the application of the AmmLeach® process

This follows on from Firestone's extensive prelimmary metallurgical
testwork on the Torlon Hill deposit using a vanety of methods In June
2011, the summary findings of a study ('Study’) by consultant Dawid Lunt
of Stiring Process Engineenng (tiling’} investigating the use of
AmmlLeach® for processing matenal from Firestone’s Torlon Hill property
were announced

The Study supported a conceptual flow sheet using the AmmlLeach®
process in a heap leaching, solvent extraction and steam stnpping
process to produce a zinc oxide product In addition, the adoption of
heap leaching would elm:nate the need for miling, agnation leaching
equipment and solid-iquid separation As a result, significant cost
savings should be possible using AmmlLeach®, especially since

no on-site acid plant 1s required
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CEQ’s Business Review
continued

Tiger Resources - DRC

Alexander has undertaken AmmLeach® testwork for Tiger Resources
Limited (Tiger’) on ore from Tiger's Kipot copper/cobalt project i the
Copperbeit of the DRC In additon, Alexander has completed detaled
piot plant design engineening for the project which ¢ has presented

to Tiger

Tiger began producing capper at its Kipol mine in Apnl 2011 The Kipol
Central high grade zone also includes a significant cobatt mineral
resource and the focus of the testwork was to investigate using
AmmLeach® to recover cobalt from this matenal Currently, Tiger has
not yet informed Alexander on whether it wants to pursue the use of
AmmLeach® at Kipol

Amnl Mining - DRC

Early last year, Alexander signed a joint venture agreement ('JV’) with
Arwil to bulld and operate a prlot plant using AmmLeach® to treat
150,000 tonnes of cobalt ore at Anvil's Mutoshi deposit in the Kolwez:
region of the Katanga province in the DRC The Mutcshi Project lies
10km east of Kolwea in the Katanga Province and is owned by Société
Mintere de Kolwez sprl ('SMK”), an exploration and muning joint venture
between Anwil (709%), and La Generale Des Caméres st des Mines
(‘Gecamines’), the DRC state-owned mining company (30%) Laboratory
amenabiity testwork using AmmLeach® showed that high recovenes
should be achievable

Because Anvil became subject to a takeover bid from Minmetals
Resources Limited late last year, now completed successfully, progress
with this opportunity stalled pending clanty of the outcome We lock
forward to discussing the Mutoshi project with the new owners and
establishing their intentions

na
The likelhood of seeing the AmmLeach® process being used at
Alexander’s former Leon copper project in northem Argentina has
strengthened In recent discussions with the Argentinean purchasers of
the project, they confirmed therr intention to bang the mine Into production
using Ammleach® under licence This would be highly attractive for both
parties as this 1s the ore body on which AmmLeach® was developed
Whilst the terms for using AmmlLeach® have yet to be finalised, the
pnnciple of granting a licence N exchange for a gross sales royaity was
part of the onginal sales agreement Alexander locks forward to prowviding
any necessary technical assistance with the project development

Intellectual Property

Metal each® has a portfolio of Australian and intemational patents and
patent applications to protect its technologles and data. The strategy for
protection 1s the development of unique intellectual property and
patenting key aspects of its AmmlLeach® and HyperLeach® inventions
In a number of countnes This strategy has been implemented through
our patent attorneys Wrays in Australia, and 1s designed to allow the
Company to protect the commercialisation of its technologies in key
countnes of interest

Importantly and recently, we have been granted a Standard Patent

in Australia for a Method for Leaching of a Copper-contamning Qre

As mentioned in the Chaiman’s Statement, this 1s especially significant
because of Australia's robust patenting regme In addition, we recently
announced we had been granted a patent for Method for Ammoniacal
Leachung in the DRC, which follows on from its granting in the Repubiic
of South Afnca in 2010 Now that our patenting process has been In
place for several years, we are optimistic about a successful outcome
for many of our other patents pending

HyperLeach® process

Notwithstanding that we have focussed all our commercialisation

efforts on the AmmbLeach® process, the HyparLeach® process (patents
pending), although iess advanced, has significant pctential Hypert.each®
IS a propnetary process developed by Metaleach for the extraction of
metals, especially copper, zinc, nickel, cobalt, molybdenum and rhenium
from sulphide ore deposits and concentrates The process utlises
chlonne based chemistry to solubilise metals from ores under amixent
temperature and pressure conditions The HyperLeach® process can be
operated as either heap leach or tank leach

Great promise has been shown on molybdenum—rhenium sulphide

ores with low reagent consumption making heap leaching of such ores
economically feasible for the first time Preliminary tank leaching of
flotation tailings has also been conducted with considerable success
HyperLeach® can be used as a pro-treatment for AmmLeach® to provide
the best of both processes Hyperl each® solubilises and mobilises
target metals from sulphides with AmmbLeach® leaching the target metals
selectively This combination allows processing of a whole ore body from
the oxide cap through the transiion zone to the sulphide basement

Business Risks

Inherent nsk civersificabon 1s offered both geographically and by metal
When compared with conventional exploration-dnven mining companies,
the business nsks differ markedly The stages at which Metaleach
technology is of interest to a potential user s from the project feasibiity
study stage, through to existing mining operatons As such, the inherent
technical nsks of the mining industry in discovenng a potential new mine
do not apply as a deposit has alreacty been found Further business risks
are referred 1o in the Directors’ Repornt under Risk Management on

page 20

Martin Rosser
Chief Executive Officer
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Our Processing Technology
MetalLeach®

Commercialisation will be achieved
by licensing our IP, partnerships in
producing mines and equity interests
in advanced projects.
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Our Processing Technology
Metal each®

MetalLeach® owns the intellectual property
to two ambient temperature and pressure
hydrometallurgical technologies, namely
AmmLeach® and HyperLeach®.
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Our Processing Technology
Metal_each®

Metaleach®

Metal each Lirited 18 Alexander’s subsidiary for the commercialisation of
its propnietary hydrometallurgical mineral processing technologies These
technologies have the potential o revolutionise the extraction processes
for many base metals deposits, reducing costs, and/or improving
recovenes, and hence enhancing operating margins at the mine site

In addition, In many cases the technologies will enable the treatment

of base metals deposits which hitherto have not been possible to treat
The technologies are especially suitable for high-acid-consuming
carbonate hosted ores

Metaleach® owns the intellectual property to two ambient temperature,
ambient pressure hydrometallurgical technologies, namealy AmmLeach®
(patents granted and pending) and Hyperleach® (patents pending)
These technologies are environmentally frendly, cost effective processes
for the extraction of base metals from amenabie ore deposits and
concentrates allowing the production of high value products at the mine
site {{ € metal powder or sheets) These technologies were developed as
a result of the Company's work at s Leon copper project in Argenting
and subsequent research and development undertaken by Metal each’s
cansultant Dr Nicholas Welham

Commercialisation of AmmLeach®
The following metal ores are particular targets for the commercialisation
of the AmmLeach® process

= Copper and Copper/Cobalt oxide deposits

* Zinc oxide deposits

» Gold/Copper oxide and Silver/Zinc oxide (alkall leaching)
+  Molybdenurn ooude

Gecgraphic diversification is offered as the countnes with the most
prospective geology for hosting high-acid-consurming copper (Cu)

and zinc (Zn) cxides are Chile (Cu), Peru (Cu, Zn), Mexico (Cu, Zn),
Central Amenca (£n), USA (Cu, Zn), Democratic Republic of the Congo
(Cu, Cu/Ca), Zambia (Cu, Zn), Turkey (Zn, Cu) and Australia (Cu)

Of these, the copper process has already been demonstrated at pilot
plant scale for heap leaching and at bench scale for agitated leaching
The cobalt (or copper and cobalt oxide ore} process has been bench
scale tested successfully for both heap and agitated leaching

Further developrment of the zinc process has led to a new solvent
extraction process for zinc from ammoniacal solutions, for which patents
are pending This patent application 1s for the recovery of anc from cres
which do net require pre-treatment before ammoniacal leaching

A patent covenng a process allowing selective leaching of zinc from
sidentic zinc ores has also been applied for

Because of the tallored pre-treatment step, almost any ore type

Is amenable to the AmmLeach® process Thus far, it has been
demonstrated on predominantly oxide ores but some sulphides have
also been shown te leach after appropnate pre-treatment This advance
allows the treatment of mixed oxide-sulphide ores which are often
present in the transition from weathered to un-weathered ore As a
project proceeds, the AmmLeach® process can be modified to cope
with the changing mineralogy from oxide to sulphide without substantial
capital expenditure

Polymetallic ores can also be processed by AmmLeach® with separation
achieved using sotvent extraction to separate metals and produce
multiple revenue streams The minmisation of ammonia transfer allows
these metals to be recovered directly from therr stnp sclution by
precipitation, crystallisation or electrowinning

The alkaline conditions used In the AmmLeach® process allow precious
metals to be recovered from the base metal depleted heap using a
secondary leach step The heap can simply be washed to recover
ammonia and subjected to standard alkaline cyamidation to recover gold
and silver The ncorpeoration of precious metals recovery within the
AmmLeach® process I1s being investigated and preliminary work on the
leaching of cyanide consuming metals pnor to prectous metal teaching
with cyanide looks highly prormising
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Our Processing Technology
AmmLeach®

Hydrometallurgically recovered metats are much mare attractive to mmne
owners than the production of concentrates from sulphide ores as it
results in the produchon of high value metals at the mine site

One of the key benefits of the AmmiLeach® process is that, unhke some
new tach ] it req no sp | purpose built equipment.

The p rafisos an based chemistry to selectively
metals from ores under ambient temperature and pressure condiions

AmmlLeach® has the potental to transform the extraction process
efficiencies and econorica for many base metals but especially
copper, cobalt and zme

Comparison of AmmLeach® with acid leaching of copper

The AmmLeach® Process

The AmmLeach® process (patents pending} Is a propnetary process
developed by Metaleach Limited for the extraction of base metals,
especially copper, 2n¢, mickel and cobalt from ore deposits and
concentrates The process utlises ammonia based chemstry to
selectively extract metals from ores under ambient temperature and
pressure condiions The target ores will typicalty be high-acid-
consuming Ammbeach® ts a viable alternative to acid leach processes
as It 15 far more selective for valuable metals whilst rejecting unwarted
metals This selectmvity offers a considerable number of techrical and
economic benefits through simplification of the flowsheet

The technology consists of the same three major stages as acid
processes | e leaching, solvent extracton (SX) and electrowinning (EW)
The leaching occurs In two steps, an ore specific pre-treatment which
converts the metals into a soluble form and the main leaching step,
which uses recycled raffinate from the solvent extraction stage Solvent
extraction 1s used to separate and concentrate the metals, whilst also
changing from ammoniacal media to acid sulphate media from which
metals can be directly electrowon using industry standard unit
operations One of the key benefits of the AmmLeach® process is that,
unlike some new technologies, it requires no special purpose built
aequipment The AmmLeach® process can directly replace acid leaching
In an existing operation

AmmLeach® technology I1s sutable for both low grade heap leaching

and higher grade tank leaching, the choice 1s dictated by the grade and
deposit economics Polymetallic deposits can be readily handled using
standard solvent extraction and solution punfication techniques

The difference from acid leaching is that the ieaching 1s conducted in
moderately alkaline solution with ammonia present to selectively leach
base metals The use of alkaline conditions allows the use of AmmLeach®
on high carbonate ores where acid consumption would be prohibitive

The AmmlLeach® process has an extremaly high selectivity for the target
metal over iron, aluminium and manganese, which are iInsoluble under
AmmLeach® conditions Calcium and magnesium solubilities are also
significantly suppressed by the presence of carbonate and extremiely low
sulphate levels in the leaching sclutions These features ensure that there
are no potenttal problems due to jarosite or gypsum precipitation
reducing parmeability n the heap or scaling problems in the solvent
extrachon plant Additionally, silica is also insoluble in the AmmLeach®
process, removing problems associated with formation of unfilterable
precipitates within an acid leach plant dunng pH adjustrment and the
need to handle high viscosity solutions Ammonia, unlike acid, doesn't
react with aluminosilicates and ferrosilicates, whose products can cause
drainage and permeability problems in heaps

Compared with previous ammoniacal processes, almost any ore
mineralogy can be treated as the pre-treatment step Is specific to each

Parametet Acd
Muneralogy " 0“’93‘ carbonates, silicates some sulphides_ — __. Amostany - dependent upon pre-teatment stage
Selactvity o —_Low won manganese calGium and slica are Fkely problemns "¥:

Rateofedtracbon ~  ~ Lmtedbyacdstrengthanddiffuson concentration in leach sonrton matched to leaching rate
Recovery e _ _ __B0% of leachabls metal e — e
Heap Hetme . T [ Tesdodays T T T TTTT o T T e [
Suiphata preciprtation Raduced permeabylity n heap break down of clays and plant »n aiso low sulphate
e o scaling dueto pEoptaion of gypsumandjaroste e L
Leachant consumpbon Depends upon carbonate content but 30 to over 100kgA Dapendsonconoermmusadbmrangaofs-&gﬁmeasmmuon
o et et o e TEPOItE TOF OpEEting S et et = e e e ot e — R
Safty ~ " T Lomevolumes of copcertrated sudreaured 7T " T (O demand systerns Using nyciolysis of urea o minimiss s on-ste ks
Precious Mmetals Heap to be neutral:sed before not required  potental for snmutaneousleoovetyl.smg
_e - e e L e il e e o TOsuiphate or sequentiad leaching Lsng Cyanide -
Decommssioning Heap requinas washeng r\e‘,malﬁazmandbrgtermmnnmlng Heap can be washed and left, residual andmonia acts as ferlitsar for

to avold atid mine drainage (AMO}

v 1 minemal of AMD
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Our Processing Technology
AmmlLeach®

ore body The whole AmmLeach® process 1s tallored to Indwidual ore
bodies and consequantly has substantially lower ammonia losses than
earlier processes In theory, all the ammoria can be recovered, however
in practice small losses do occur

Decommissioning of the heap 1s extremely simple as no neutralisation is
necessary and the potential for acid mine drainage 1s virtually eiminated
After final leaching the heap 15 simply washed to recover ammonia and
then left to revegetate, with the residual ammonia acting as a fertiliser

The alkaline residue allows immecdiate application of cyanide leaching of
gold and silver in ores where there 1S an economic precious metal
content after removal of huigh cyanide consuming metals such as copper

Copper

Copper 1s the world's most rmportant base metal by value and its price 1s
a bellwether of world industnal production Approximately 20% of giobal
mined copper production is produced frorm oxide ores using sotvent
extracton-electrowinning {(SX-EW) hydrometallurgy The Company
believes that its leaching technology has the potential to increase
significantly the share of global copper produced using
hydrometallurgical processes Hydrometallurgically recovered copper is
much more attractive to mine owners than the production of
concentrates from sulphide ores as it results in the production of high
value cathodes at the mine When sold these realise almost 100% of the
copper content, compared to concentrates where owners may receive
as little as 60% of the copper value

The capability of taslonng the rate of recovery 1s an important feature of
the AmmLeach® process and allows the plant to operate more flexibly
with the rate of leaching matched to the operating capacity of the solvent
extraction plant

Zinc

The vast majonty (~95%) of word zinc metal production uses smelting
to recover and refine zinc metal out of zinc-contaning feed matenal such
as zinc concentrates or zinc oxides Development of a new
hydrometallurgical process route for zinc oxides has the potential

to smplfy 2nc refining

Metal each® has developed a novel {patents applied for) process for the
solvent extraction of zinc from ammoniacal solutions Testwork has
shown that zinc can be efficiently extracted using commercially available
reagents in a single stage and stnpped with acid solutions, with better
efficiency and greater selectwity than has previously been reported

The general flow sheet for the zinc process I1s straightforward and
consists of leaching, punfication and recovery stages The nature of the
leach stage depends upon a number of factors, notably the grade of ore
and leaching kinetics High grade, fast leaching ore would be readity
accommodated by an agitated tank ieach, whilst iow grade, slow
leaching ores would be better suited to heap leaching Depending upon
the product desired, there may be no need for a solution punfication
stage, further simplifying the overall process flow sheet

A wide range of different oxade zinc mineralogies can potentially be
treated by AmmLeach®, induding those with significant hermmorphite
content which presently can only be treated using acid In Ammleach®
solutions, the leaching can be extremely rapid provided the conditions are
appropnately matched to the ore The acid route requines ore containtng
»10% zinc to be economically viable The codissolution of stica and iron
in the acid results in a very complex flow sheet, as typified by that used at
the Skorpton mine in Namibia. The tailings from Skorpion are reportedty
>4% Zn showing that acid leaching can be extremely inefficient

Copper process economics

An analysis of the economics of the AmmLeach® process compared
with conventional acid leaching for high-acid-consurming copper ores is
dependent upon a multitude of parameters specific to the mineralogy of

the depost and its location  Suffice it to say that the capital and operating
cost savings can be major, particularly for high-acid-consuming ore
bodies located in remote locations with long transport distances This is
because the safe supply of sulphunc acid 1s logistically difficult and
expensive as the transport costs of bulk chemicals in-country to site

can be as much agamn as, or more than, the free-on-board cost

In many instances, economics will dictate that the mine will have to build
an expensiva sulphur burming sulphunc acid plant for the supply of acid

in addition, to regulate supply vanations and for acid plant maintenance,
acd storage tanks for around one month's consumption, whether the mine
makes its own or buys tn acid, will be required, significantty adding to the
capital cost. As well as a substantial capital cost saving, this 1s where
AmmLeach® has a major operating cost advantage too, dus to the order of
magnrude difference in reagent consumpton per tonne of ore processed

For example, for even a moderately high-acid-consuming ore, ten to
fifteen tmes as much acid (50kgH) as ammonia will be consumed This s
due to the fundamental difference between the two leaching processes
In that whereas acid 18 consumed by gangue rminerals dunng leaching,
ammona Is ot The reagent Is can be recycled and only relatrvely small
losses of ammonia need t© be made up

Capital costs compansons for the AmmlLeach® technology and
conventional acid leaching assume that certain aspects are common to
both leach systems 1 @ mining, mine infrastructure, mine waste disposal,
process plant residue disposal, project bulldings (administration,
laboratones, workshop, warshouse etc), site access roads, the power
transmussion ne and the water supply line Hence any companson 15
lirited 1o the process plant itself

Typically for copper only oxide ores, process plant capital costs for
AmmLeach® and acid heap leach operations of the same size are
similar as, excluding reagent production and storage/handling costs
on site, essentialty the same equipment s used for both processas
However, importantly, where economics dictate that sulphunc acid 1s
made on site, there can be a major differential associated with reagents
and, in parbicular, the differential costs of ammonia and sulphunc acid
The AmmLeach® can achieve much higher copper solution
concentrations in the pregnant leach solution (PLS) than are typically
seen In acid plants Typical copper concentrations for an acid leaching
operation are of the order of 1-2g copper {CuVL compared to PLS
concentrations for the AmmLeach® process of 6-12g Cuw/L. This,
coupled to the much greater copper transfer between aqueous and
organic, allows the efficient handiing of high copper tenors in PLS {in
acid plants this would necessitate larger volume mixer-settlers due to
the higher volume of PLS and lower transfer between agqueous and
organic phases), | @ more metal produced per unit capacity of plant
than in a corresponding acid leach-SX-EW plant

Moreaver, in ores where cobalt 1s a valuable by/co-product (e g DRC
and Zambia), AmmLeach® offers additional significant capital and
operating cost savings This s because in the case of the acid leach
cireutt the cobalt recovery circuit 1s complex in that the main leach
solubilises a range of metals The raffinate bleed will therefora contain
unextracted copper, mon (both ferrous and fernc), manganese and
aluminium Other species may also ba present and these will need to be
examined and potentally dealt wath as well Such metals include nickel
and cadmium For the production of matal a multiplicity of unit
operations are required ahead of cobalt metal production

In the case of the alkaline leach circuit, the requirements for punfication
ahead of final cobalt recovery are much less complex The leach itself 1s
highly selective for copper and cobalt since not all metals will produce
ammines In this respect there 1s neglgible ron and manganese present
in the hquor A nurmber of possibilities exist for recovery of cobalt from
the ammoniacal solution
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Directors and Advisors
continued

Matt Sutcliffe Executive Chairman

Matt Sutchffe graduated from the University of Nottingham in 1990 with
a PhD in mining engineenng He 1s also a chartered engineer and worked
as a mining engneer in underground nicke! mines from 1990 to 1994
with Inco Limited, within its Manitoba drvision He has additional
expenence (n operating gold and coal mines gained whilst working

with Gencor and Bntish Coal

For 10 years before founding the Company, he worked in the City of
London as a mining analyst and corporate financier specidising in the
resources sector Dunng this time he was a mining analyst at T Hoare &
Co, head of mining at Williams de Broe and a director of corporate
finance at Evoluthion Beeson Gregory fnow Evolution Secunties)

At Evolution Beeson Gregory, he advised a large number of public
natural resources companies, as well as arranging a number of equity
listings for jurior and mid-tier mining and oil and gas companies on AIM
Whilst at both Willlams de Broe and Evolution Beeson Gregory, he was
recognised as one of the industry plonsers for isting mimng companies
on AlM

Martin Rosser Chief Executive Officer

Martin Rosser 1s a chartered mining engineer who has 30 years' practical
industry and financial markets expenance since graduating with a degres
In muning engineerng from the Cambome School of Mines in 1981

Initially, he spent five years working as a mining engineer In Australa,
both on underground and surface gold mines, including time with
Western Mining Corporation at Central Norseman In 1987, he retumed
to the UK and worked as a mining analyst with two City stockbrokers

He then joined the FSA authonsed and regulated natural resources
industry specialist firm of Dawvid Willamson Associates Limited in 1989
as a founder employee, and subsequently Managing Director Dunng this
time, until joining Alexander in Jure 2005, he provided extensive
corporate finance adwsory and arranger seraces to the fimn's worldwide
natural resources industry clients

From 2002, until its takeover by Lonmin plc in January 2007, he was
a non-executive director of TSX listed AfriOre Limited

Roger Davey Non-Executive Director

Roger Davey s a chartered mining engineer and a graduate of the
Camborne School of Mines, wath over 30 years’ experience in the mining
industry For 13 years, until the end of 2010, he was an Assistant Birector
and the Sentor Mining Engineer at N M Rothschild {(London) 1n the Mirning
and Metals project finance team, where he had responsibility for the
assessment of the techrical nsks associated with project loans.

Mr Davey was appointed to the beard of Alexander iIn August 2006

Pricr to this, his expenence covered the financing, development and
operation of both underground and surface mining operations in gold
and base metals at semor management and director leve! in South
Amenca, Afnca and the United Kingdom This includes, from 1984 —
1997, being the General Manager of Minorco (AngloGold) subsidlanes
In Argentina, where he was responsible for the development of the
US$270m Cerro Vanguardia gold-siver mine

Emil Morfett Non-Executive Director

Emil Morfett, who joined the board In 2007, has over 30 years’ of
relevant, expenence, with eight years in the miming industry and twenty
years In mining finance He graduated with a B S¢ 1n geclogy from the
Uriversity of London and worked for Fio Tinto in Saud Arabia

As a mature student, he completed an M Sc 1in mineral exploraton

at Queens University, Ontano, Canada.

He then worked in Johannesburg for Goldfields of South Afnca In 1987,
he moved to London to work as a mning analyst In 1993 he became
the Global Head of Mining Research at Bank Panbas and left in 1997

to becorne Vice President and Head of Mining Research for J P Morgan
in London

In 2001, he founded his own consulting business (Millstone Gt Limited,
af which he 18 Managtng Directon), providing both equity and debt
focused muning research and strategic advice He continues to provide
independent, bespoke research and financial analysis of mining
companies and projects to select hedge funds, merchant banks and
mining cormpanies

James Bunyan Non-Executive Director

James Bunyan, who joined the board in Apnl 2005, holds an MBA
from Warwick University and a BSc in Blochemustry from Henot-Watt
He specialises in comorate development with intermational business
development across a broad range of Industnal and commercial
sectors worldwide

He has proven business sklls in strategic business planning, mergers,
acquisitons, disposals, turnarounds and fundrasing, with particular
expenence in mining He was for five years a director of Tiberon Minerals
Ltd, which developed the Nut Phac deposit in Vietnam from an
exploration concept to one of the largest tungsten polymetallic

deposits in the world




Alexander Mining plc Corporate Govermnance
Annual Report & Accounts 2011 18

Corporate and Social Responsibility

The Group's core values are

* Tobe a good corporate citizen, demonstrating integnty in each
business and commurnuty in which we operate

* To be open and honest in all cur dealings, while respecting
commercial and persenal confidentiality

» To be objective, consistent and fair with all our stakeholders

= To respect the dignity and wellbeing of all our stakeholders and
all those with whom we are involved

* To operate professionalily in a performance-onentated culture
and be committed to continuous improvement

Our Stakeholders

Wa are committed 1o developing mutually beneficial partnershups
with our stakeholders throughout the Iife cycle of our activities and
operations  Our pnncipal stakeholders include our shareholdars,
employees, ther families, and employee representatives, the
communities in which we operate, our business partners and local
and natronal governments

Environmental Policy

The Group is aware of the potential impact that its operations may have
on the environment It will ensure that all of its actvities and operations
incur the minimum environmental impact possible

The Group intends to meet or exceed international standards of
excellence with regard to environmental matters Our operations and
activites will be In compliance with applicable laws and regulations

‘We will adopt and adhere to stendards that are protectve of both human
health and the environment  For our operations we will develop and
implement closure and reclamation plans that prowde for long-term
environmental stability and suttable post-mining beneficial land-uses

at all relevant sites

Each employee (including contractors) will be held accountable for
ensunng that those employees, equipment, facilites and resources within
ther area of responsibility are managed to comply with this policy and to
minumise environmiental risk.

Ethical Policy

The Group 1s committed to comply with all laws, regulations, standards
and internationa conventions which apply to our businesses and to our
relatonships with our stakeholders Where laws and regulations are non-
axstent or inadequate, we will maintain the highest reasonable standards
appropnate 'We will in an accurate, tirnely and verfiable manner,
consistently disclose matenal information about the Group and its
performance This will be readily understandable by appropnate
regulators, our stakehokders and the public

The Group complies and will conttnue to comptly to the fullest extent with
current and future anti-brnbery legisiation

We will endeavour to ensure that no employee acts in a manner that
would in any way contravene these principles The Group will take the
appropnate disciplinary action concerning any contravention

Commumnity Policy

The Group’s aim 1s to have a positive impact on the people, cultures

and cornmunities in which it operates It will be respectful of local and
indigenous peocple, therr values, traditions, culture and the envronment
The Group will also stnve to ensure that surounding communities are
informed of, and where possible, Involved in, developments which affect
them, throughout the Iife cycle of our operations It will undertake social
investment initiatives in the areas of need where we can make a practical
and meaningful contnbution

Labour Policy

The Group 1s committed to upholding fundamental human nghts and,
accordingly, we seek to ensure the implementation of farr employment
practices The Group will also commit to creating workplaces free of
harassment and unfar discnmination

Health & Safety Policy

The Group 1s committed to comphying with all relevant occupational
health and safety laws, regulations and standards In the absence
thereof, standards reflecting best practice wil be adopted
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Corporate and Social Responsibility

continued

Corporate governance

Code of best practice

The listing rules of the Financial Senices Authonty Incorporate the UK
Corporate Governance Code, which sets out the pnnciples of Good
Govemance, and the Code of Best Prachice for isted compantes

The Board intends that, so far as 1s relevant for a company of its sze and
stage of development, it will comply with the UK Corporate Governance
Code The Board has established appropriately constituted Audit and
Remuneration Commuttees with formally delegated responsibilities

The Board of Directors

The Beard of Directors curmrently compnses five members, two executive
directors and three non-executive directors The Board has a wealth of
both corporate finance and mining expenence, from exploration,
development and through to production The structure of the Board
ensures that no one indvdual or group dominates the dectsion

making process.

Board meetings are held regularty to provide effective leadership and
overall management of the Group’s affairs through the schedule of
matters reserved for Board decisions This includas the approval of the
budget and business plan, major capital expenditure, acquisittons and
disposals, nsk management policies and the approval of financial
statements All directors have access to the adwice and services of the
Company’s solicitors and the Company Secretary, who is responsible for
ensuring that all Board procedures are followed Any director may take
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense in the
furtherance of their duties

The Audit Committee

The Audit Committee, which meets not less than twice a year, considers
the Group's financial reporting (including accounting policies) and internal
financial controls The Audit Committee, which compnses Mr E Morfett
{Chairnan), Mr R Davey and Mr T Cross, receives reports from
management and external auditors to enable it to fulfil its responsibility
for ensunng that the financial performance of the Group 15 properly
monitored and reported on In addition, it keeps under review the scope,
cost and results of the extemal audit, and the independence and
objectnaty of the external auditors

The Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee, which meets when necessary,

15 responsible for making recommendations to the Board on directors’
and senior executives’ remuneration The committee comprises

Mr R Davey (Chairman) and Mr J Bunyan Non-executive directors’
remuneration and conditions are considered and agreed by the Board

Financial packages for executive directors are established by reference

to those prevating in the employrment market for executives of equivalent
status both In terms of level of responsibility of the position and therr
achievemeant of recognised job qualifications and skils The Committee
will also have regard to the terms which may be required to attract the
equivalent expenenced executive to join the Board from another company

Internal Controls

The directors acknowledge therr responsibility for the Group’s systems
of intemal controls and for reviewing their effectiveness These internal
controls are designed to safeguard the assets of the Group and to
ensure the rellabiity of financial information for both intemnal use and
external publcation Whilst the directors acknowledge that no internal
control system can provide absolute assurance against matenal
misstaterent or loss, they have reviewed the controls that are in place
and are taking the appropnate action to ensure that the systems
continue 1o develop in accordance with the growth of the Group

Relations with Shareholders

The Board attaches great importance to maintaining good relations
with its shareholders Extensive information about the Group’s activities
15 Includead in the Arnual Report and Accounts and Interim Reports,
which are sent to all shareholders Market sensitve Inforrmation 1s
regularty released to all shareholders concurrently In accordance with
stock exchange rules The Annual General Meeting prowides an

opportunity for all shareholders to communicate with and to question the

Board on any aspect of the Group's actviies The Company mantans
a corporate website where information on the Group 1s regularly updated
and all announcements are posted as they are released The Cormnpany
welcomes communication from both its pnvate and institutional
shareholders

Share dealing

The Company has adopted a share dealing code for directors and
relevant employees In accordance with the AlM Markst of the London
Stock Exchange and TSX Venture Exchange {TSXV) Rules and will take
proper steps to ensure compliance by the directors and those employees
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Directors’ report

The directors present their report and the audited consolidated
financial stataments for the year ended 31 December 2011

Principal actrities

The principal actmities of the Group are the commercialisation of the
Group's proprietary mineral processing technologies, either through
lcensing to third parties and/or the acquisition of equity stakes in
amenable deposits

Business Review
A review of the business and the future developments of the Group
Is set out on pages 6 to 15

Resutts

The Group made a consolidated net loss for the year of £193,000 (2010
£210,000) The directors do not recommend the payment of a divdend
(2010 il

Research and development

The Group, through its wholly owned subsidiary Metaleach Lirited,

15 :nvoived i the engoing research and development of its propnetary
mineral processing technologies, AmmiLeach® and HyperLeach® Further
details thersof are set cut in the Business Review on pages 6 to 15

Risk Management

The successful commerncialisation of the Group's propnetary rineral
processing technologies 1s subject to a number of risks, bath in relation
to third party licensing opportuniies and the acquisition of equity
Interests in amenable deposits for the Group In addition, like all
businesses, the Group I1s exposed to financial nsks The Board adcpts
a prudent approach to minimise these nsks as far as practicable,
conststent with the corporate objectives of the Group These nsks are
summarised below, together with the disclosures set out in note 19 to
the Financial Statements

Development risks

The Group’s stratedy to commercialise its propnetary leaching
technologies, esther through third party icensing agreements or direct
equity Interests In amenable deposits, 15 subject to specific technical
nsks relating to the technologies and wider technical nsks relevant to
the mining industry as a whole

There 1 a nsk that the Group will be unable to negotiate suitable
licensing arrangements wath third parties for the use of the leaching
technologies The Group may also be unable to negotiate the acquisition
of equity interests in amenable deposits at commercially attractive pnces,
or finance the acquisition thereof

The Group’s propnetary leaching technologies have not yet been apphed
on an industnal scale The results of testwork performed to date, both in
the laboratory and at pilot plant scale, may not be reproducible at an
industnal scale in an economically efficient manner

The Group mitigates the developmental nsk for the commeroalisation of
the technologies by holding discussions with a wide range of companies
representing a number of tanget projects and mines wath a diversification
of both metals and countnes

Loss of key personnel from the Group

The commercialisation of the Group's leaching technologies I1s
dependent upon the continuing application of skills provided by highly
qualified and expenenced employees and consultants There 1s a nsk
that the Group’s management, empioyees and consultants will be
targeted by competitors The loss of key employees and consuttants
may adversely affect the abilty of the Group to achieve its objectives
The Group mitigates this nsk by ensunng that all key employees and
consultants are rewarded appropnately and participate in the Group’s
share option scheme, further details of which are set out in note 21 to
the Financial Statements

Intellectual property risk

The Group's success depends in part on its ability to obtain and mantain
protection for its intellectual property, so that it can ensure that royalties
or licence fees are payable for the use of its propnetary leaching
technologies The Group has appled for patents covenng its leaching
technologies Although some have been granted, there Is a nsk that
other patents may not be granted and the Group may not be able to
exclude competitors from developing similar technologies

Howaver, the Group actively manages its ntellectual property nghts
portfolio, which includes significant propnetary know how 1n addition to
the patent pending Innovations When dealing with potential clients, the
Group ensures that confidentiality agreements are signed acknowledging
the full range of the Group's intellectual property In addition, contracts
are in place with all relevant employees, consultants, contractors and
adwvisers to ensure that all Intellectual property nghts ansing in the course
of their work on behalf of the Group vest with the Group, and that such
intellectual property can only be used for the benefit of the Group

Environmental risk

The Group I1s subject to environmental regulations at its remaining
property In Peru A breach of such regulations may result in the
imposition of fines, penalties and other adverse effects on activities

Currency exchange risk

‘The Group reports its financial results in Sterling, while a proportion of
the Group’s costs and revenues are incurred in US Dollars, Australian
Dollars, New Zealand Dollars or the Paruvan Nuevo Soles Accordingly,
movernents in the Sterling exchange rate with these currencies could
have a detnmental effect on the Group's results or financial condrtion

Liquidrty nsk

“The Group has to date relied upon shareholder funding of its actmaties
Development of mineral propertes, the acquisiton of new opportunites,
or the recovery of royalty/licencing income from third party assets, may be
dependent upon the Group’s ability to obtain further financing through joint
ventures, equity or debit financing or other means Although the Group has
been successful In the past in obtaining equity financing, there can be no
assurance that the Group will be able to obtan adequate financing in the
future or that the terms of such financing will be favourable

Credit risk

The Group's credit nsk relates mamly to the remauining instalment
payments for the sale of its subsidiary, Alexander Gold Group, finahsed
on 28 Febnyary 2011 This nsk has been mihgated as far as possible by
the receipt of mortgage secunty over properties of the buyers

Commodrty price nsk

The Group's propnetary leaching technologes have the potential to
reduce costs and enhance margins at the mine site The level of interest
from mining companies N commercialisaton of the Group’s propnetary
leaching technologes may be affected, for batter or worse, by future
movements in global metal prices
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Directors’ report
continued

Going concemn

Basad on a review of the Group's budgets and cash flow forecasts, the directors have identified that If current and near-term corporate development
opporturibies are unsuccessful in providing adequate funding then the Company will need to raise finance within the next twelve months in order to

continue s operations and to meet its commitments

In common with many mining, exploration and intellectual property development companies, the Company needs to rase finance for Its activities

in discrete tranches to finance its activities for imited penods The Directors are confident that the Company currently has a range of corporate
development opportunities which could include significant funding cutcomes and moreover that, If necessary, any further funding can be raised as

and when required On this basis, they have concluded that it 1s appropnate to draw up the financial staterments on the going concern basis However,
there can be no certanty that either development opporturities or alternative funding will be secured 1n the necessary timescales and this indicates the
existence of a matenal uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the abilty of the company and the group to continue as a going concem

The financial statements do not include any adjustments, particularly in respect of fixed assets, Investments, recevables and provisions for winding

up which could be necessary if the Company and Group ceased to be a going concern

Directors
The directors of the Company who held office dunng the year and ther beneficial interests
in the shares of tha Company at the year-end were as follows

Shares Shares

held at held at

31 December 31 December

2011 2010

Number Number

M L Sutcliffe Executive Chairman 10,906,000 10,906,000
M L Rosser Chief Executive Officer - -
J S Bunyan Non-Executive Deputy Chaiman - -
R O Davey Non-Executive - -
E M Morfett Non-Executive - -
10,906,000 10,906,000

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr M L Rosser will retire by rotation at the Annual General Meeting and, being eligible,

offers tumself for r-election

Other than ther service contracts, no director has a matenal interest in a contract with the Company Details of directors’ remuneration are set out

In note 6 to the financial statements

Dunng the year, directors’ and officers’ liability insurance was maintaned for directors and other officers of the Group as permitted by the

Companies Act 2006
The directors’ interests in share options are as follows.
Options held at Current
31 December exercise pnce First date of Final date of
2010 {pence} Date of grant exercise exercise

M L Sutcliffe 1,000,000 10p 23 Mar2005 23 Mar 2007 22 Mar 2015
M L Sutcliffe 150,000 10p  15July2009 15 July 2010 14 July 2018
M L Rosser 500,000 10p 31 May2005 31 May 2007 30 May 2015
M L Rosser 250,000 10p 1 Aug 2006 1 Aug 2008 31 Jul 2016
M L Rosser 500,000 10p 20 Dec 2007 20 Dec 2009 19 Dec 2017
M L Rosser 1,000,000 10p 12 Jun 2008 12 Jun 2009 11 Jun 2018
M L Rosser 150,000 10p  15July2009 15 July 2010 14 July 2019
J S Bunyan 250,000 10p 23 Mar2005 23 Mar 2007 22 Mar 2015
J S Bunyan 250,000 10p 12 Jun 2008 12Jun 2009 11 Jun 2018
J S Bunyan 150,000 i0p  15uly2009  15July 2010 14 July 2019
R O Davey 250,000 10p 1 Aug 2006 1 Aug 2008 31 Jul 2016
R O Davey 250,000 10p 12 Jun 2008 12 Jun 2009 11 Jun 2018
R O Davey 150,000 10p  15July2009  15July 2010 14 July 2019
E M Morfett 250,000 10p 2B Nov2007 28 Nov2009 27 Nov 2017
E M Morfett 250,000 10p 12 Jun 2008 12 Jun 2009 11 Jun 2018
E M Morfett 150,000 10p  15July2009 15July 2010 14 July 2019
Total 5,500,000

No options held by directors were exercised or lapsed dunng the penod
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Directors’ report
continued

Substantial sharehoiders
Detalls of the Company’s substantial shareholders are set out on the
Company's website at www alexandemning com

Payment of suppliers

The Group’s policy on the payment of suppliers 1s to settle the terms
of the payments with those suppliers when agreeing the terms of each
transaction, ensura that those suppliers are made aware of the terms
of payment and abide by the terms of payment

At the yearend there were 20 days' (2010 32 days) purchases in Group
trade payables

Political and charitable contributions
The Group has made no politcal or chantable donations in the year
(2010 nif)

Share capital and share options

Details of the share capital of the Company at 31 December 2011 are
set out In note 15 to the financial statements Detalls of the share options
outstanding at 31 December 2011 are set out In note 21 to the financial
statements

Stock Exchanges

The Company’s shares are quoted on the AIM market of the London
Stock Exchange {symbol AXM) and on the TSX Ventura Exchange
{symbol AXD}

In respect of the TSX Venture Exchange, the Company i1s a desighated
foreign issuer as defined In National Instrument 71-102 of the Canadian
Secunties Regulators and therefore remains subject to the regulatory
requirements of the AIM market and UK Listing Authonties.

Annual General Meeting

The Notice convening the Company’s Annual General Meeting, to be
held on 14 June 2012, 1s set out in pages 45 to 46 of this report Full
details of the resolutions proposed at that meeting may be found in the
Natice

Corporate governance statement
A report on corporate governance and compliance with provisions of
the UK Corporate Governance Code Is set out on page 19

Provision of information to auditor
In the case of each of the directors who are directors of the Company
at the date when this report 1s approved

+ Sofar as they are indmdually aware, there 1s no relevant audit
information of which the Company's auditor is unaware, and

+ Each of the directors has taken all the steps that they ought to
have taken as a director to make themself aware of any relevant
audit Infermation and to establish that the Company's auditor I1s
aware of the information

Auditor

PKF (UK) LLP has confirmed their willingness to continue in office,
and a resolution concerring their re-appointment and remuneration
will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting

Statement of directors’ responsibilibes
The directors ara responsible for prepanng the diractors’ report and the
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for
each financial year Under that law the directors have, as required by the
AIM Rules of the London Stock Exchange, elected to prepare the group
financial staternents in accordance with Interational Financtal Reporting
Standards as adopted by the European Union and have also elected to
prepare the parent company financial statements In accordance with
those standards. Under company law the directors must not approve the
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair
view of the state of affars of the company and the group and of the
profit or loss of the group for that penod  In prepanng these financial
statements the directors are required tor

* select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,

* make jJudgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable
and prudent,

* state whether the financial staternents have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, and

* prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless
it 1s inappropnate to presume that the company and the group will
continue In business

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records
that are sufficient 1o show and explain the company’s transactions, to
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any tme the financial position of
the company and to enable them to ensure that the financtal statements
comply with the Companies Act 2006 They are also responsible for
safeguarging the assets of the company and the group and hence for
talang reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and
other iregulanties

The directors are respensible for the maintenance and integnty of the
corporate and financial information included on the company’s website
Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and
dissemination of the financial statements and other information included
In annual reports may differ from legislation In other jursdictions

By Order of the Board,

Terence Cross
Company
8 May 2012
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Independent auditor’s report

to the members of Alexander Mining plc

We have audited the financial statements of Alexander Mining pic for the
year ended 31 December 2011 which compnse the consolidated income
staterment, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated and company balance sheets, the consolidated and
company statements of cash flows, the consolidated and company
statements of changes i equity and the related notes The financial
reporting framework that has been apphed in ther preparation is
applicable law and international Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)
as adopted by the Eurcpean Union and, as regards the parent company
financial statements, as applied i accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act 2006

This report 1s made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Comparnies Act 2006 Our
audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's
report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent permitted by law,
we do not accept or assume responsibiity to anyone other than the
company and the company's members as a body, for our audit work,

for this report, or for the opmions we have formed

Respective responsibilites of directors and audrtor

As explaned more fully In the statement of directors’ responsibiities,

the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial

statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and far view

Qur responsibility 1S to audit and express an opinion on the financial
statements In accordance with applicable law and International Standards
on Auditing (UK and Ireland) Those standards require us to comply with
the Audrting Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit nvolves obtaiming evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that
the financtal statements are free from matenal misstatement, whether
caused by fraud or emor This includes an assessment of whether the
accounting policies are approprate to the group’s and the parent
company's circumstances and have been consistently applied and
adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by the directors, and the overall presentation of the
financia! statements In addition, we read all the financtal and non-
financial information in the annual report to identify matenal
mconsistencies with the audited financial statements If we become
aware of any apparent matenial misstatements or Inconsistencies

we consicder the mplicabons for our report

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion

» the financial statements give a true and far view of the state of the
group’s and the parent company’s affars as at 31 December 2011
and of the group's loss for the year then ended,

» the group financial statements have been properly prepared In
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union,

* the parent company financial statements have been properly
prepared In accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European
Union as applied in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act 2006, and

+ the financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with the requirements of the Compames Act 2006

Separate opinion in relation to IFRSs as Issued by the IASB

As explaned In note 2(a) to the group financial statements the group,

In addition to applying IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, has
also applied IFRSs as 1ssued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (IASB}

In our opinion the group financial statements comply with IFRSs
as 1ssued by the IASB

Emphasis of matter - going concern

In forrming cur opinien, which is not modified, we have considered the
adequacy of the disclosures made in note 2{g) to the financial statements
concerning the requirement of the company to raise further finance
within the next twelve months In order to continue its operabhons and

to mest ts commitments If the company 1s unable to secure such
additional funding, this may have a consequential impact on the
company’s and the group's ability to continue as a going concem

The autcome of any corporate developments or fundraising cannot
presently be determined, and no adjustments to asset carrying values
that may be necessary should the company be unsuccessful have been
recognised In the financial statements These conditions, along with the
other matters explained in note 2(g) to the financial statements, indicate
the existence of a matertal uncertainty which may cast significant doubt
about the company’s ability to continue as a going concem

Opinion on other matter prescnbed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opimion the information given n the directors’ report for the
financial year for which the financial statements are prepared I1s
consistent with the financial staterments

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report In respect of the following matters where
the Compares Act 2006 requires us to report to you If, in our opinion

= adequate accounting records have not been kept by the
parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not
been recewved from branches not visited by us, or

» the parent company financial statements are not in agreement
with the accounting records and returns, or

s certan disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law
are not made, or

« we have not received all the information and explanations we
require for our audit

Mﬁ(wbt_cf

Jason Homewood (Senior statutory auditor)

for and on behalf of PKF (UK) LLP, Statutory auditor
London, UK

8 May 2012
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Consolidated income statement
For the year ended 31 December 2011

2011 2010
notes £'000 £'000

Continuing operations
Revenue 20 220
Cost of sales - )
Gross profit 20 216
Administrative expenses {1,386) (1,367)
Research and development expenses {464) {369}
Operating loss 4 (1,830) (1.514)
Profit on sale of investment 11b - 370
Finance income 7 150 50
Loss before taxation (1,680} (1,094)
Income tax expensa 8 - -
Loss for the year from continuing operations {1,680) {1.094)
Profit for the year from discontinued operations 12 1,487 884
Loss for the year {193) 2100
Basic and diluted profit/loss) per share (pence)
from continuing operations 9 (124p 081
from continuing and discontinued operations 9 0 14)p 01ep
from discontinued operations 9 1 10p 0 65p

Al components of profit or loss for the year are attnbutable to equity holders of the parent

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2011

201 2010

£'000 £'000

Loss for the year (193) 210)
Other comprehensive income

Exchange differences realised on disposal of subsidiary {1,403) -

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations - 5

Previously recognised gain on investment transferred to the income statement - (102}

Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent {1,596} (317
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Consolidated balance sheet
As at 31 December 2011

2011 2010
notes £'000 £'000
Assets
Property, plant & equipment 10 29 -
Total non-current assets 29 -
Trade and other recervables 13 661 115
Cash and cash equivalents 14 1,257 2,357
1,918 2,472
Assets classified as held for sale 12 - 1,213
Total current assets 1,918 3,685
Total assets 1,947 3,685
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Issued share capital 15 13,599 13,549
Share premium 15 11,850 11,850
Merger reserve 16 - (2,487
Share option reserve 16 535 563
Translation reserve 16 {60) 1,343
Accumulated losses {24,100) (21,485
Total equity 1,824 3,333
Liabilitles
Current liabillties
Trade and other payables 17 123 279
Liabilities classified as held for sale 12 - 73
Total current Labilities 123 352
Total liabilities 123 352
Total equity and liabilities 1,947 3,685

These ﬁnwmem approved by the Boand of Directors and authonsed for issue on 8 May 2012 and were signed on therr behalf by

M L Rosser
Director
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Company balance sheet

Financial Statements

Company number 5357433 in England and Wales

As at 31 December 2011

2011 2010
notes £000 £'000

Assets
Property, plant and equipment 10 29 -
Total non-current assets 29 -
Trade and other recervables 13 646 68
Cash and cash equivalents 14 1,256 2,356

1,902 2,424
Non-current assets classified as held for sale 12 - 1,140
Total current assets 1,902 3,564
Total assets 1,931 3,564
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Issued share capital 15 13,599 13,549
Share premium 15 11,850 11,850
Share option reserve 16 835 563
Accumulated losses 16 (24,163) (22,672)
Total equ 1,821 3,290
Liabiities
Trade and other payables 17 110 274
Total current Eabilities 110 274

1,931 3,564

Total equity and liabilties

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authonsed for issue on 8 May 2012 and were signed on their behalf by

M L Rosser
Director




Alexander Mining pic
Annual Report & Accounts 2011 27

Financial Statements

Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2011

2011 2010

notes £000 £'000
Cash flows from operating activities
Operating loss - continuing operations {1,830) (1,514)
Discontinued operations — costs of selling subsidiary - (204)
Depreciation and amortisation change 8 1
Decrease / (increase) in trade and other raceivables 60 5
{Decrease) / Increase in trade and cther payables (229) 78
Expenses settled through issue of equity 50 -
Share option charge 37 52
Net cash outflow from operating activities {1,904} (1,592
Cash flows from investing activities
Interest receved 5 10
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment &N -
Proceeds from sale of investment - 470
Proceeds from sale of subsidiary 736 -
Net cash mflow from Investing activities 704 480
Net decrease In cash and cash equivalents (1,200) (1,112)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of penod 2,454 3,540
Exchange differences 3 26
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 14 1,257 2,454
Company statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2011

2011 2010

notes £'000 £°000
Cash flows from operating acthvities
Operating loss {1,176) (1,328)
Depreciation and amortisation charge 8
(Increase) / decrease in trade and other recevables {44) 29
Decrease} / increase in trade and other payables {164) 180
Shares ssued in payment of expenses 50 -
Share option charge 37 52
Inter-company recharges {10} -
Net cash outflow from operating activities 1,299) (1,067
Cash flows from investing activities
Amounts remitted to subsidiary compantes 607 (469)
Interest receved 5 10
Proceeds from sale of investment - 470
Proceads from sale of subsidiary 833 -
Acquistion of property, plant and equipment (30 -
Net cash inflow from investing activities 194 1
Net decreasa In cash and cash equivalents {1,105) (1,056)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginrung of penod 2,356 3,388
Exchange differences 5 24

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

14 1,256 2,356
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December 2011

Share

Share Share Merger option Translation  Fair value Accumulated Total

capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses equity

£000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000

At 1 January 2010 13,549 11,850 {2,487) 515 1,348 102 {21,279) 3,588
Accumutated loss for perniod - - - - - - (210} (210)

Exchange difference on translating
foreign operations - - - - 5) - - (5)
Realisation of mvestment - - - - - (102} - (102)
Total comprehensive income for the period

attnbutable to equity holders of the parent - - - - &) (103) 210 317)

Share option costs - - - 52 - - - 52

Share options cancelled - - - (4) - - 4 -
At 31 December 2010 13,549 11,850 {2,487} 563 1,343 - (21,485) 3,333
Accumulated loss for penod - - - - - . (193) (193)|

Exchange difference on translating
foreign operations - - - - - - - -
Realisation of foreign exchange gains
upon sale of subsichary - - - - (1,403} - - (1,403),
Total comprehensive income for the pencd

attributable to equity holders of the parent - - - - (1,403} - (193) (1.59¢6)

Share option costs - - - 37 - - - 37
Share options cancelled - - - {65) - - 65 -
Transfer from merger reserve - - 2,487 - - - (2,487) -
Shares issued 50 - - - - - - 50

At 31 Decamber 2011 13,599 11,850 - 535 (60} - {24,100) 1,824
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Financial Staternents

Company statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December 2011

Share

Share Share option Fair value Accumulated Total

capital premium reserve reserve losses equity

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

At 1 January 2010 13,549 11,850 515 102 (22,423) 3,593

Accumulated loss for penod - - - - (253) (253)

Realisation of investment - - - (102) - {102)
Total comprehensive income for the penod

aftnbutable to equity holders of the parent - - - (102) {253) (355)

Share option costs - - 52 - - 52

Share options cancelled - - 4) - 4 -

At 31 December 2010 13,549 11,850 563 - (22,672) 3,290

Accumulated loss for pernod - - - - {1,556) {1,556)
Total comprehensive income for the pencd

attnbutable to equity holders of the parent - - - - (1,556) (1,556)

Share option costs - - 37 - - 37

Share options cancelled - - 65) - 65 -

Shares issued 50 - - - 50

At 31 December 2011 13,599 11,850 535 - {24,163) 1,821
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Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2011

1 General Information

Alexander Mining ple {the ‘Cormpany’) 1s a public irnited comparty incorporated and domiciled in Engtand and its shares are traded on the AIM Market
of the London Stock Exchange and on the TSX Venture Exchange (TSXV) Alexander Mining pic 1s a holding company of a group of comparnes (the
‘Group), the pnncipal actvities of which are the commercalisation of the Group’s propnetary mineral processing technologies, erther through licensing
to third parties and/or the aoquisition of equity stakes in amenable deposits These consofidated financial statements were approved for Issue by the
Board of Directors on 8 May 2012

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
The prncipal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below These palicies have been applied
consistently to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated

a) Basls of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ('IFRS’) in force at the reporting date and
their interpretations 1ssued by the International Accountng Standards Board ('IASB’) as adopted for use wethin the European Union and with IFRS and
therr interpretabons 1ssued by the IASB

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts in the financial statements The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions or estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in note 2 p)

A separata income statement for the parent company has not been presented, as permitted by section 408 of the Compantes Act 2006
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS and interpretations in force at the reporbing data The Company has not adopted any
standards or Interpretations in advance of the required iImplementation dates

Going Concemn

Based on a review of the Group's budgets and cash flow forecasts, the directors have identfied that if current and near-term corporate development
opportunities are unsuccessful in prowiding adequate funding then the Company will need to raise finance within the next twelve months in order to
continue its operations and to meet ts commitments

In common with many mining, exploration and intellectual property development compantes, the Company needs to rasse finance for its activities

In discrate tranches to finance its activities for limited penods The Directors are confident that the Company currentty has a range of corporate
development opportunities which could include significant funding outcomes and moreover that, If necessary, any further funding can be raised as

and when required On this basis, they have concluded that it i1s appropnate to draw up the financial statements on the going concem basis However,
there can be no certanty that erther development opportunities or altemative funding will be secured in the necessary timescales and this indicates the
existence of a matenal uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the company and the group to continue as a going concem

Tha financial statements do not include any adjustments, particularty in respect of fixed assets, Investments, receivables and provisions for winding

up which could be necessary If the Company and Group ceased te be a going concem

Standands, Amendments and Interpretations 1ssued but not yet effective

No Standards and Interpretations that have been 1ssued but are not yet effective, and that are avalable for early application, have been applied by
the group in these financlal statements There are no Standards or Interpretations 1ssued, but not yat effective, which ara expected to have a matenal
effect on the financial statements in the future

b} Basts of consolidation

I} Subsichanes

Tha consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial staternents of the Company and entities controlted by the Company (its subsidianes)
made up to 31 December each year Control 1s recognised where the Company has the power to govern the financtal and operating policies of an
Investee entity so as to obtain benefits from its actvihes Whems necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidianes to bnng
the accounting policies into line with those used by the Group

1) Transactons eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances and any unrealised gains and losses or Income and expenses ansing from intra-group transactions are eliminated In prepanng
the consolidated financial statements

) Business combinations

Business combinations made pnor to 1 January 2006 were accounted for in accordance with the relevant UK GAAP at the tme The transrional
requirements of IFRS 1 allowed prospective apphcation for all business combinations subsequent to the transiton date (1 January 2006) Accordingly
such combinations were not re-stated in accordance with that standard Reserve amounts resulting from such transactions have been released in the
year as the related subsidiary companies have been disposed of

For subsequent business combinations, the assets, liabiities and contingent labilities of a subsidiary are measured at therr far value at the date of
acquisiion Any excess of the cost of the acquisition over the farr values of the identifiable net assets acquired 1s recognised as goodwill, which 1s
subsequently tested for impairment rather than amortised If the cost of the acquisition 1s less than the farr value of net assets of the subsidiary
acquired, the difference 15 recognised directly in the income staterment

The resuits of subsidiartes acquired or disposed of dunng the year are included in the consolidated Income statement from the effective date
of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropnate
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Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2011

c) Foreign currency
The Company’s functional and presentational currency ts Sterling rounded to the nearest thousand and 1s the currency of the primary economic
environment i which the Company operates

) Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foraign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction Monetary assets and labilities
denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translated to Sterling at the foreign exchange rate nuling at that date Foreign
exchange differences ansing on translation are recognised In the Income statement

1) Financial statements of foreign operations

On consohdation, the assets and habilites of the Group's overseas operations that do not have a Sterling functional currency are translated at
exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet date Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rate for the period
Exchange differances ansing are recognised in other comprehensive income through the Group's translation reserve Such translaton differences
are recognised in the income statement in the penod in which the operation 1s disposed of

) Net mvestment in foreign operatons
Exchange differences ansing from the translation of the net investment in foreign cperations are recognised in other comprehensive Income
through the Group's translation reserve They are released into the income staternent upon disposal of the foreign operation

d) Property, plant and equipment
) Owned assets
ltems of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accurnulated depreciation {(see below) and impaiment losses (see note 2e) below)

1 Subsequent costs

The Group recognises in the camying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment the cost of replacing part of such an item when that cost
s incurred If it 1s probable that the future economic benefits associated with the item wall flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
rehably All other costs are recognised in the income statement as an expense as incurred

m) Depreciation
Depreciation 1s charged to the iIncome statement on a straight-ine basis over the estimated useful iives of each item of property, plant and eguipment
Land 1s not depreciated The estimated useful ives of all other categones of assets are three vears

The residual value is assessed annually Gains and losses cn disposal are determined by companng proceeds with carmying amount and are included
In the iIncome statement

€) Impaiment

)  Whenever events or changes in circumstance indicate that the carmang amount of an asset may not be recoverable the asset 15 reviewed for
impairment An asset’s carrying value Is written down to its estimated recoverable amount (being the higher of the fair value less costs to sell
and value in use} If that 1s less than the asset's carrying amount

1 Where an imparment loss subsequently reverses, the camying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) 1s increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased camying amount does not exceed the camying amount that would have been
determuned had no imparment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) In prior years A reversal of an impainment loss
Is recognised 1n profit or loss for the penod

f} Disposal groups and non-current assets held for sale
Disposal groups and non-current assets held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell

Disposal groups and non-current assets are classified as held for sale if therr camrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction rather
than through continuing use

This is the case, when the asset or disposal group 15 avalable for immediate sale In its present condition subject only to terms that are usual and
customary for sales of such assets or disposal groups and the sale 1s considered to be highly probable

A sale is considered to be highly probable if the appropriate level of management 1s committed to a plan to sell the asset or disposal group, and an
active programme to locate a buyer and complete the plan has been iniated Further, the asset or disposa! group has been actively marketed for sale
at a pnce that 15 reasonable in relation to its current farr value In addition, the sale 1s expected to qualfy for recognition as a completed sale within
one-year from the date that it 1s classified as held for sale

g) Financial instruments

) Investments

Equity financial instruments held by the Group, other than investments in subsidianes, are classified as being avalable-for-sale and are stated at farr
value, with any resuitant gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income, except for Impairment losses When these investments are sold the
cumulative gain or loss previously racognised In other comprehensive Income is recognised in the income statement

Investments in subsidhary undertakings are stated at cost less provision for iImpatrment
i} Trade and other recervables
Trade and other recevables are not interest beanng and are stated at amortised cost




Alexander Mining pic Section Running Head
Annual Report & Accounts 2011 32

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2011

nj) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents inciude cash in hand, depostts held at call with banks, other short-term highty liquid Investments with onginal matunties
of three months or less, and bank overdrafts Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings In current kabilities on the balance shest

v} Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are not interest bearing and are stated at amortised cost

h) Share based payment transactions
Directors, senior executives and consultants of the Group have been granted options to subscnbe for ordinary shares All options are equity settled

The far value of services receved In retumn for share options granted s measured by reference to the fair value of the share options granted, at date of
grant, and this 1s expensed on a straight ne basis over the estmated vesting penod This estimate 1s determined using an appropriate valuation model
considenng the effects of the vesting conditions, expected exercise period and the payment of dividends by the Company

Shares issuad 0 settlement of expenses are recogritsed at the far vatue of the services receved

i} Operating lease payments
Payments madie under operating leases are recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease

j)y Share capital
The Company’s ordinary shares are classified as equity

K) Provisions
Prowvisions are recognised when the Grotip has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it i1s more likely than not that an outflow
-of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount can be relably estimated

I} Revenue
Revenue compnses the fair value of the consideration received or recevable for the provizion of services to or from extemnal customers (net of value
added tax and other sales taxes)

Sale of testwork services

The group sells services to other mining companies These services are generally pronded on fixed-price contracts, with contract terms usually less
than one year Revenue is recognised under the percentage-of-completion method, based on the services performed to date as a percentage of the
total services to be performed

Royalty income
Royalty income is recognised on an accruals basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreements

m} Research and development costs

Research costs are recognised In the income statement as an expense as incurred Development costs are recognised in the Income statement as

an expense as incurred unless the development project meets specific critena for deferral and amortisation No development costs have been deferred
to date because there Is insufficient Information at the balance sheet date to quantify the expected future economic benefits from the propnetary
leaching technclogies.

n) Taxation

Tha charge for taxation 1s based on the profit or loss for the year and takes into account deferred tax Deferred tax Is the tax expected to be payable
or recoverable on temporary differences baetween the carmying amounts of assets and ltabilities in the financial staternents and the comesponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable prefit or loss, and s accounted for using the balance shest method Deferred tax assets are only recognised
to the extent that 1t 1s probable that furture taxable profit will be avalable in the foreseeable future agamnst wiuch the temporary differences can

be utlised

o) Segment information
Operating segments are reported N a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the Chief Operating Decision Maker

The Chief Operating Decision Maker, responsibile for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been idertfied
as the Board of Directors

p} GCritical accountng estimates and judgements

The praparation of financial statements under the pnnciples of IFRS requires management to make judgements, estirmates and assumptions that affect
the applicatton of policies and reported amounts of assets and llabiliies, Income and expenses The estmates and associated assumptions are based
on histoncal expenence and vanous cther factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgernents about cammying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis Remisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the penod in which
the estimate 1s revised if the rewision affects only that penod, or in the penod of the revision and future penods if the rewsion affects both current and
future penods
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Information about such judgements and estmates 1s contained In the accounting policies and/or the notes to the financial statements and the key
areas are summansed below Areas of judgement that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements are

*  Impamment of assets - note 2{g)

+ Estimation of share based payment costs - notes 2(h} and 21

3 Segmental information
The following iInformation 1s given about the Group's reportable segments

The Chief Operating Decision Maker 15 the Board of Directors The Board reviews the Group's internal reporting in order to assess performance
of the business. Management has determined the operating segment based on the reports reviewed by the Board

The Board considers that, since the sale of Argentina Gold Group Limited, there remains cnly one operating segment This incorporates similar
actvites and services, namely Head Office, including the development and management of intellectual property nghts The results and assets of
Peruvian operations are deemed to be immatenal and are included within the remaining single segment The analysis has been prepared on the
basis that prevailed and was reported to the Board until 31 December 2011

As the group 15 in the early stages of developing and licensing a new product, the Board assesses the performance of the business based on
the segment's Eamings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortsation (EBITDA), and overall loss before tax

The Head Office and Inteltectual Property segment recognises all costs and revenues This segment 1s not further sub-divided to diferent geographical

regions due to its knowledge and services being offered to a broad geographical spread of clients, often indirectly through multnational groups

As the company has only a single activity and there 1s also only one geographical segment, the disclosures for this segment have already been
given in these financial statements

Segmental disclosures for the year ended 31 December 2010 were as follows

Head Office and Argentina
Intellectual Property and Peru Group total

2010 2010 2010

£'000 £'000 £'000
External and total segment revenues 220 - 220
EBMTDA {1,060} (206) {1,266)
Interest revenue 9 1 10
Depreciation and amortisation - {1) {1)
Loss before tax for trading segment {1,051) (2086) {1,267}
Reconciliations

2010 2010 2010
f) Group loss before tax £'000 £000 £'000
Loss before tax for trading segments {1,051) (206} (1,257
Share option charges {52) - {52y
Loss before tax {1,1039) {206) {1,309)
Reversal of previously recogrused impairment (note 13) - 1,099 1,089
Loss for the year {1,103) 893 {210)

2010 2010 2010
(i) Group assets £000 £000 £'000
Assets not allocated for intemal reporting
Non-current assets - - -
Group other receivables 115 1,116 1,231
Group cash and cash equivalents 2,357 97 2,454
Group total assets 2472 1,213 3,685

(i) Major customers 2010
During the year two customers each accounted for more than 10% of the Group’s revenues These revenues are &l attributable to the Head Office

and Intellectual Property segment They denve from sales of consultancy services and mineral processing test-work services, all related to the Group's

Intellectual property
2010
£000 %
Customer 1 146 66%
Customer 2 34 15%

180 81%
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4 Opersting loss
Operating loss 1s stated after charging/(creciting)
2011 2010
£'000 £'000
Depreciation 8 -
Exchange gain on foreign currency [<)] (40}
Operating lease expense 3 38
Share option charge (note 21) 37 52
Shares issued in payrment of expenses 50 -
Research and development expenses 464 369
5 Auddor's remuneration
2011 2010
£'000 £000
Fees payable to the Group's auditor for the audit of the Group's annual financial statements 19 20
Fees payable to the Group's auditor and its associates for other services
The audit of the Group’s subsidianies pursuant to legislation - 4
Other services pursuant 1o legislation - 9
Tax sarvices 5 4
Other services - 2
24 39
6 Staff costs and directors’ emoluments
Directors’ remuneration s set out below”
Other
Annual salary Fees benefits Total
£'000 £000 £'000 £'000
201
M L Sutcliffe 186 - ] 192
M L Rosser 125 - 2 127
R O Davey - 25 - 25
J S Bunyan - 40 1 41
E M Morfett - 25 - 25
311 90 9 410
2010
M L Sutehife 174 - ] 179
M L Rosser 124 - 2 126
R O Davey - 25 - 25
J & Bunyan - 40 1 41
E M Morfett - 25 - 25
298 90 8 396
The aggregate staff costs for the year were as follows
2011 2010
£000 £'000
Directors’ remuneration 410 396
Other staff wages and salanes 248 332
Social secunty costs 28 40
Share based payments 37 52
723 820

On average, excluding non-executive directors, the group employed 3 technical staff members {2010 4) and 2 adminustration staff (2010 3)
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7 Investment income

2011 2010

£'000 £'000

Unwinding of discount on other receivables 142 -
Interest on short term bank deposits — continuing operations 5 10
Exchange differences on foreign currency — continuing operations 3 40
150 50

8 Income taxes
No hability to iIncome taxes anses in the penod

The current tax charge for the penod differs from the credit resulting from the loss before tax at the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK
The differences are explained below

2011 2010

£'000 £°000
Loss before tax {1,680) {1,094)
Cument tax at 26% (2010 289%) {437) (306)
Effects of
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 120 64
Qualifying depreciation in excess of capital allowances on which ne deferred tax has been provided - (1}
Unrelieved tax losses ansing in the penod 317 243
Income tax expense - -
Unrecognised deferred tax assets

2011 2010

£'000 £'000
Cumulative tax losses 1,569 1,491
Unreheved exploration expenditure ansing in overseas subsidiaries 165 182
Accelerated capital allowances 4 3
Unrecognhised deferred tax asset at end of penod 1,738 1,646

Deferred tax assets camed forward have not been recognised In the accounts becauss thera 1s currently insufficient evidence of the timing of sutable
future taxable profits against which they can be recovered

9 Loss per share
The calculation of loss per share s based on the wesghted average number of shares in 1ssue In the year to 31 December 2011 of 135,797,501
(31 December 2010 135,486,542) and computed on the respectiva profit and loss figures as follows

201 2010

£'000 Per share £'000 Per share
(Loss) - continuing operations (1,680) (1.29)p (1,094) {0 81p)
(Loss) - continuing and discontinuad operations (193) {0 14p 210) (0 16p)
Profit - discontinued operations 1487 110p 884 085p

Thera is no difference between the diuted loss per share and the basic loss per share presented Share options granted to employees could
potentally dilute basic earmings per share in the future, but were not included in the caleulation of diluted eamings per share as they are anti-dilutive
for the penod presented
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10 Property, plant & equipment

The Group
Office
equipment Leasehold Motor
and fumiture improvements vehicles Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £000
Cost
As at 1 January 2010 47 35 - 82
Disposals 2 - - 2
As at 31 December 2010 45 35 - 80
Additions 2 - 35 37
Disposals (10} - - [41s)]
As at 31 December 2011 37 35 35 107
Depreciation
As at 1 January 2010 {48} (35 - @61
Digposals 1 - - 1
As at 31 December 2010 {45) (35) - (80)
Charged In year (1) - @ @
Drsposals 10 - - 10
As at 31 December 2011 36) (35) 4] {78)
Net book value
As at 31 December 2011 1 - 28 29
As at 31 December 2010 - - - -
As at 1 January 2010 1 - - 1
The Company
Office
equipment Leasehold Motor
and fumiture improvements vehicles Total
£°000 £'000 £000 £'000
Cost
As at 1 January 2010 and 1 January 2011 45 35 - 80
Additions 2 - 35 37
Disposals {10} - - (10}
As at 31 December 2011 37 35 35 107
Depreciation
As at 1 January 2010 and 1 January 2011 {45) (35) - (80)
As at 1 January 2010 ard 1 January 2011 (45) (35) - (80)
Charged In year (1) - @ (8)
Disposals 10 - - 10
As at 31 December 2011 (36) {35) {7 {78)
Net book value
As at 31 December 2011 1 - 28 29

As at 31 December 2010

As at 1 January 2010
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11 Investments
Group Company
2011 2010 2011 2010
£'000 £'000 £000 £'000
Subsidiary undertakings (a} - - - -

(a) Company subsidiary undertakings
As at 31 December 2011, the Group owned Interests in the following subsidiary undertakings, which are included in the consolidated
financial statements

Name Holding Business Activity Country of Incarporation
Metaleach Lrmited 100% Leaching technology development Bntish Virgin Islands

Molinetes (BVI) Limited 100% Investment holding British Virgin Islands

Compania Minera Molinetes SAC 1 100% Exploration Peru

Alexander Mining Katanga s pr! 100% Dormant Democratic Republic of Congo
Alexander Mining Technologies Lirnited 100% Dormant British Virgin Islands

1 Owned by Mobinetes (BVI Lirited
The Company's subsidiary, Alexander Gold Group Limited, was sold on 28 February 2011 - see note 12 for further detauls

{b) Available for sale investments

Dunng 2005, the Company acquired an interest In 1,165,000 ordinary shares of AUS0 20 each in Manana Resources Limited, a company registered in New

South Wales, Australia, for a total cost of £99,957 Manana Resources Limited’s shares are traded on the AIM Market of the London Stock Exchange

During 2010, this Investment was sold for the cash sum of £469,896, yielding a profit on disposal of £369,939 Of this profit, £102,170 was held

pic

n a fair value reserve at 31 December 2009 The farr value reserve was transferred to the 2010 income statement upon disposal of the investment

12 Disposal group - discontinued operations

On 28 February 2011, the Company completed, as planned, the sale of its entire interest in its subsidiary, Alexander Gold Group Limited, for the
sum of US$2,200,000 US$400,000 was racerved on exacution of the legally binding sale and purchase agreement and 18 monthly payments of
US$100,000 each became due, commencing in March 2011

Given the stage of negotiations at 31 Decernber 2010, the directors used the proposed transaction as the ‘best’ indicator of the farr value of the
disposal group and discountad the expected proceeds to arnve at a fair value of £1,140,000 after deducting expected costs to sell Previously
impaired assets of the disposal group had impatrments reversed to give a canrying value equal to that farr value amount

At 1 January 2010 no camying value had been brought forward for the iInvestment in Alexander Gold Group within the Company’s balance sheet
Previously recogrused impaimments for this investment were therefore reversed to give a carmying value of £1,140,000 and the investment was
classified as a non-cumrent asset avalable for sale

A discount rate of 25% per annum was applied in armving at the fair value of the disposal group, manly :n recognition of the nsks imphcit in the
anticipated collection of future instalment payments In additon to a small discount for the time value of money, the discount related pnncipally
to country / political nsk, the nsk that foreign exchange controls may restnct future remittances, as well as counter-party iIn-country credit nsks
The same discount rate of 25% per annum was also applied to the consideration recevable for Alexander Gold Group Limited upon iritial
recognition on 28 February 2011 The discounted balances are included in trade and other receivables (note 13)

A net profit for the year attnbuted to the discontinued business amounted to £1,487,000 (2010 £884,000), compnsed as follows

2011 2010
Discontinued operahon £'000 £'000
Impairment reversal - 1,099
Administrative expenses - (182)
Exploration and development expenses - 23)
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment - -
Investment income - 1
Finance cost - (1)
Gan on disposal of discontinued operation 84 -
Realisation of translation reserve transferred to income Statement oh disposal of the subsidiary (AS 21} 1,403 -
Profit for the year on discontinued operation 1,487 884

Other comprehensive income relating to the disposal group

The cumulative amount transferred to translation reserve 1n respect of the disposal group amounted to a credit of £1,403,000 at 31 December 2010
This translation reserve was realised by its transfer to the Income Statement on disposal of the subsidiary dunng the year ended 31 December 2011
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The assets and liabilities of the disposal group / discontinued business for the penod ended 31 December 2010, compnsed of

2010
£000
Current assets
Other recevables 1,116
Cash at bank 97
Total assets of di | gro 1,213
Gurrant habites
Trade and other payables 18
Environmental provision 55
Tota! liabllies of disposal group 73
Cash flows of the disposal group
2010
£'000
Net cash outflow from operating actmties (238)
Net cash flow from investing activities 1
Net cash fiow from financing actmities 197
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents {40)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginmng of penod 148
Exchange differences (11)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period a7
13 Trade and other receivables
Group Company
2011 2010 2011 2010
£'000 £'000 £°000 £000
Current assets
Trade receivables 18 44 - -
Other recernvables 585 28 595 27
Other taxes and social secunty 4 6 4 [}
Prepayments and acerued income 47 a7 47 35
661 115 646 68

Other recervables includes £534,000 (2010 nil) In respect of the remzairung instaliments due from the sale of the Company's subsidiary, Alexander Gold
Group Lmited Amounts due to the Company from its subsidiary companies have been fully prowided for as detailed in note 24

14 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and demand deposits and short term fixed term deposits Cash and cash equivalents included
in the cash flow statement compnse the followang balance sheet amounts

Group Company
2011 2010 2011 2010
£000 £'000 £000 £000
Cash on hand and demand deposits 1,257 2,357 1,256 2,356
Continung operations 1,257 2,357 1,256 2,356
Disposal group cash and demand deposits (note 12) - a7 - -
1,267 2,454 1,256 2356
15 Share capital
2011 2010
Number £'000 Number £'000
Authorised
Ordinary shares of 10p each 240,000,000 24,000 240,000,000 24,000
Allotted, called up and fully paid
Ordinary shares of 10p each 135,986,542 13,599 135,486,542 13,549

Details of share options Issued dunng the year and cutstanding at 31 December 2011 are set out in note 21




Alexander Mirung plc Financial Statements
Annual Report & Accounts 2011 39

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2011

Changes in issued Share Capital and Share Premium
For the year ended 31 December 2011

Number of Nominal Share
shares value Prermum Total
£ £ £
At 31 December 2010 135,486,542 13,548,654 11,849,590 25,398,244
Shares issued at 10p each - In settlement of expenses, on 18 May 2011 500,000 50,000 - 50,000
At 31 December 2011 135,086,542 13,598,654 11,849,590 25,448,244

Alt of the above shares were Issued to finance the ordinary actvities of the Group

Shares 1ssued in settlement of expenses have been recognised at the far value of the services receved

16 Capital and reserves

The Consolidated and Company statements of changes in equity are set out on pages 28 and 29 of this report
* The merger reserve at 31 December 2010 arcse from the Company’s acquisition of Alexander Gold Group Limited on 22 March 2005
The merger reserve balance was transferred to accumulated losses upon the sale of Alexander Gold Group on 28 February 2011
* The share option reserve includes an expense based on the far value of share options issued since 7 Novernber 2002 that had not vested
by 1 January 2006 Detatls of share options 1ssued durng the penod and outstanding at 31 December 2011 are set out in note 21
¢ The translation reserve compnses all foreign exchange differences ansing from the translation of the financial statements of foraign operatons

that do not have a Sterling functional currency That part of the reserve that related to the operations of Alexander Gold Group Limited was

transferred to the Income Statement upon the sale of that subsidiary on 28 February 2011

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption parmnitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and has not presented

its own income statement

17 Trade and other payables

Co

201 2010 2011 2010

£000 £'000 £000 £'000

Trade payables 36 87 36 67
Other payables - 32 - 32
Other taxes and soclal secunty 9 - 9 -
Accruals and deferred income 78 180 65 175
123 279 110 274

18 Provisions
Group

2011 2010

Environmental provision £°000 £'000
At 1 January - 53
Exchange difference - 2
Provision classified as held for sale - (55)

At 31 December

The 2010 envirorumental provision representad the directors’ estimate of rehabiitation costs for the Group's Leon project site in Argenting.
The project was that of Alexander Gold Group Limited, which subsidiary was sold on 28 February 2011 The Group has no further environmental

rehabilitation habilities
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19 Financial risk management

The Group’s and Company's pnnctpal financial assets compnse cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, other recevables and avallable for sale
financial assets. In addition, the Company’s financial asssts include amounts due from subsidianes The Group's and Company's financial liabdites
compnse trade payables, other payables, and accruad expenses

All of the Group's and Company's financal labiities are meastired at amortised cost With the exception of avallable for sale financial assets,
which are recorded at fair value, all of the Group's and Company’s financial assets are classified as loans and recervables.

The Board of Directors determines, as required, the degree to which 1t 1s approprate to use financial instruments, commodity contracts or other
hedging contracts or techniques to mrigate financial nsks The main nsks for which such instruments may be appropnate are interest rate nsk, liquidity
nsk and foreign currency nsk, each of which 1s discussed below All non-routine transactions require Board approval Dunng 2011 the Group has not
used denvative financial instruments

The Board consider that the nsk compeonents detalled below apply to both Group and Company Financial nsks are managed at Group rather than
Company level

Credit risk

Credit nsk refers to the nsk that the Group's financial assets will be impaired by the default of a third party The Company's pnmary exposure Is to
credit nsk on the debtor of £534,000 (2010 £1,116,000) refemed to In note 13, in respect of the sale of its subsidiary, Alexander Gold Group Limited
The Group s further exposed to credit nsk on its cash and cash equivalents as set out In note 14, with additional nsk attached to other recevables set
out In note 13 Credit nsk 1s managed by ensunng that surplus funds are depesited only with well-established financial institutions of igh quality credit
standing The majonty of receivables nsk 1s mitigated by the holding of mortigage charges over fixed properties to secure payment of the £534,000
recevable due from the buyers of the Group's Argentinean subsidiary

At 31 December 2011 the Group had no sigrificant trade recervables The Group's focus on commercialising its technologies may result in significant
trade recenvables dunng 2012, the credit nsk on which will be managed by assessing the credit quality of each customer, taking Into account its
financial pesiton and any cther relevant factors

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency nsk refers to the nsk that the value of a financial commitment, recogrised asset or hakxlity will fluctuate due to changes In foreign
cumency rates The Group reports iis financial results in Sterling and 1s therefore exposed to foreign currency nsk as a result of financial assets, future
transactions and investments tn foreign companies denomtnated n currencies other than Sterling

Exchange gains and losses on financial assets or future transactions are recognised directly in profit or loss A proportion of the Group's costs are
incurred in US Dollars, Austraban Dollars, New Zealand Dollars, Euros and Pernuvian Nuevo Soles Accordingly, movements in the Sterling exchange
rate against these currencies could have a detrimental effect on the Group’s results and financial condition

Foreign exchange nsk 1s managed by mantaining some cash deposits in currencies other than Sterling The table below shows the currency profiles
of cash and cash equivalents

2011 2010

£°000 €000

Stering 515 1,859
US Bollars 662 492
Austratan Dollars 78 44
New Zealand Dollars 2 33
Euros - 8
entinean Pescs - 18
1,257 2454

The Group has assets located in Peru (which 1s considered to have a Peruvian Nuevo Soles functional currency) Exchange gains and losses resufting
from currency fluctuations on such assets are recognised in other comprehensive income within the transtation reserve At 31 December 2011,
movements of up to 5% n the Stering US dollar and Sterding other currencies exchange rates ara not considered to have a matenal effect on the
Group's balance sheet The impact of a 5% movement has been selected as this s considered masonable given the cument level of exchange rates
and the volatiity observed on a histoncal basis The Group does not bedge its exposure to iInvestments in foreign companes denominated in
currencies other than Sterling
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The table below shows an analysis of net monetary assets and liabilihes by functional currency of the Group

Peruvian

Sterling US Dollars Nuevo Soles Total
2011 £'000 £'000 £7000 £000
Balances denommated in
Sterling 495 - - 495
US Dallars 1,224 - 1 1,225
Austrahan Dollars 72 - - 72
New Zealand Dollars 2 - - 2
Other currencies 1 - - 1

1,794 - 1 1,795
Penraan

Sterhing  US Dollars  Nuevo Soles Total
2010 £'000 £000 £°000 £'000
Balances denommated in
Stering 1,800 - - 1,800
US Dollars 1,663 &7 1 1,597
Canadian Dollars (106) - - {106)
New Zaaland Dollars 33 - - 33
Argentinean Pesos - 36 - 36
Other currencies 14 - - 14

3404 (31) 1 3,374

Commodity pnce risk

Commodity pnee nsk is the nsk that the Group's future eamings wall be adversely impacted by changes in the market prnices of commodities
The Group 18 exposed to commodity pnce nsk as its future revenues may be determmined by reference tc market pnces of metals

In addition to any new projects acquired by the Group, future revenue strearms may include royathes from the development of third party assets
The Group's revenue from such royalty streams wall be dependent on future commodity pnces, both in terms of the absolute value of the royalty
and the commeodity price required for the successful economic development of such assets

The Group manages commodity price nsk by considering the impact of fluctuations in commadity pnces on the value of the Group’s Intellectual
property and the potential value of third party assets on which the Group 15 negotiating future royalty agreerments

Liquidity risk
Liquidity nsk relates to the abiity of the Group to meet future obligations and financial habiites The Group monitors its nsk to a shortage of funds
using cash flow models, which consider exssting financial assets, labilities and projected cash inflows and outflows from operations

The table below sets out the matunty profile of financial labdities at 31 December

Group Company
2011 2010 2011 2010
£000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Due n less than one month 84 246 Fal 211
Due between one and three months 6 38 -] 33
Due between three months and one year 24 28 24 25
114 312 101 274

To date the Group has relled upon shareholder funding of its actmties Development of mineral properties, the acquisition of new opportunities,

or the recovery of royalty iIncome from third party assets, may be dependent upon the Group's ability to obtain further financing through joint ventures,
equity or debt financing, corporate developments or cther means Although the Group has been successful in the past in obtaining equity financing
there can be no assurance that the Group will be abie to cbtan adequate financing in the future or that the terms of such financing wili be favourable

Based on a review of the Group’s budgets and cash flow forecasts, the directors have dentified that if current and near-term corporate development
opportunities are unsuccessful In providing adequate funding then the Company will need to raise finance within the next twelve months in order to
continue its operations and to mest s commitments.

In common with many mining, exploration ard intellectual property development comparnies, the Company needs to raise finance for its actvities
in discrete tranches to finance its actvittes for imited penods The Directors are confident that the Company cumrently has a range of corporate
development opportunities which could include significant funding cutcomes and morecover that, if necessary, any further funding can be raised
as and when required
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Interest rate risk profile of financial assets

Interest rate nsk is the nsk that the value of a financial mstrument or cash flows assocrated with the instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market
interest rates. Interest rate nsk anses from interest beanng financial assets and habilties that the Group uses Interest beanng assets compnse cash
and cash equivalents [t 1s the Group’s policy to settle trade payables within the credn terms allowsd and the Group does not therefore incur mterest
on overdue balances

At 31 December 2011 the Group had Sterling denominated short term deposits which attracted interest as follows

2011 2010
Deposit Interest rate Deposit  Interest rate
£°000 £'000
Sterling deposits 311 0.50% 1,282 050%

The value of the Group’s assets at 31 December 2011 and the resuft for the pertod would not be matenally affected by changes in interest rates.

Fair values of financial assets and liabliities
It 1s the directors’ opinion that the camying values of the Group’s and the Company’s financial assets and habililies as at 31 December 2011
and 31 December 2010 are not matenally different from therr far values They have therefore not been shown separately

20 Caprital management
The Group’s objective when managing capital 1s to safeguard the entity’s ability to continue as a going concem, and develop its activities to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for cther stakeholders

The Group’s capital structure compnses all compenents of equity (i @ ordinary share capital, share prermiumn, retained earmings and other reserves)
At 31 December 2011 the Group had no debt When considenng the future capital requirements of the Group and the potential to fund specific
project development via debt the directors consider the nsk charactenstics of all of the underlying assets in assessing the optimal caprital structure

21 Share based payments
The Group operates an Executive Share Option Plan, under which directors, sentor executives and consultants have been granted options to
subscnbe for ordinary shares All options are share setiled The number and weighted average exercise pnices of share options are as follows

2011 20710

Weighted Weighted

average average
exercise Number exercise Number
pnce of options price of options
Qutstanding at the beginning of the pencd 101p 9,975,000 100p 10,091,665
Granted dunng the period 100p 1,250,000 12 4p 350,000
Cancelled dunng the pencd 100p  (1,050,000) 10 0p {466,665)
Outstanding at the end of the period 101p 10,175,000 10 1p 9,975,000
Exercisable at the and of the penod 101p 7,861,665 101p 6,874,995

Share options outstanding at 31 December 2011 had a weighted average exercise pnce of 10 1 pence (2010 10 1 pence) and a weighted average
contractual life of 6 4 years (2010 66 years) To date no share options have been exercised There are no market based vesting conditions attaching
to any shame options outstanding at 31 December 2011
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At 31 December 2011 the total number of options over ordinary shares owtstanding was as follows

Exercise period Weighted
average
exercise

Vested Number price

Exercisable untl 2015 2,250,000 100p

Exercisable until 2016 525,000 100p

Exercisable until 2017 750,000 100p

Exercisable until 2018 2,300,000 100p

Exercisable untl 2019 1,833,332 100p

Exercisable until 2020 203,333 122p

Exercisable at the penod end 7,861,665 101p

Not yet vested

Exercisable between 2012 and 2019 916,668 10 COp

Exercisable between 2012 and 2020 146,667 127p

Exercisable between 2012 and 2021 1,250,000 100p

10,175,000 101p

The fair value of services recerved in retumn for share options granted 13 measured by reference to the fair value of the share options granted
This estimate s based on a Black-Scholes modal which i1s considered most appropnate considenng the effects of the veshing conditions,
expected exercise penod and the payment of dvdends by the Comparny

The following inputs were used In the calculation of the far value of the share options granted dunng the penod
9 June 23 August

Date of Grant 2011 2011
Fair vatue {p) 1 20p 13p
Share pnce (p) 79p 56p
Exercise price (p) 100p 100p
Expected volatility 2 48% 58%
Qption e 3 years 3 years
Expected dwvidends 0 0% 00%
Risk-free rate of return 05% 05%

1 The far value of options awarded on 9 June 2011 was 2 Op per share and for thosa awarded on 23 August 2011 the far value was 1 3p per share
2  Volatiity for options granted was esttmated based on the Company's daily closing share price dunng the 12 months pricr to the issue of the
share options

22 Commitments
Future commitrments for the Group under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows

2011 2010

£'000 £'000

Payable within one year 33 37
Payable between one and two years - 37
33 74

The Group does not sub-lease any of its leased premises Payments under operating leases recognised in operating loss in the pernod
are set out In note 4
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23 Contingent habilities
There were no contingent labilities at 31 December 2011 or 31 December 2010

24 Related parties
The Group’s Investments in subsidianes have been disclosed in note 11

Dunng the penod, Alexander Mining plc entered into the following transactions with other group companies

Sale of goods and services Amounts owed by group comparnes
Increase/

At (dacrease) Provisions At
1 January In period In penod 31 Decetmber
2011 2010 2011 2011
£'000 £:000 £'000 £7000 £'000 £'000
Molinetes BVl Limited - - - 10 (10 -
Mstaleach Lirmited 10 - - 607 {607) -
10 - - 617 617) -

Amounts owed by related parties are unsecured, interest-free, and have no fixed terms of repayment The balances will ba settied in cash
No guarantees have been given or received

Detaills of directors’ emoluments are set out In note 6 Compensation for key management personnel was as follows

2011 2010

£000 £'000

Short-term employee benefits 617 671
National Insurance contnbutions 25 25
Other benefits 9 8
Share-based pavments a5 50
686 753

Dunng the penod, Metaleach Limited paid £15,000 (2010 mil) to consulting metallurgist Dr Kathenne Mallat in respect of AmmLeach® testwork
supervision Dr Mallat 1s the spouse of Garry Johnston, a sentor Group employee
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

(incorporated and registered in England and Wales under number 5357433)

Notice 1s hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of Alexander
Minung plc will be held at the East India Club, 16 St James's Square,
London, SW1Y 4LH at 10 30am on Thursday 14th June 2012 in order
to consider and, if thought fit, pass resoiutions 1 to 4 as ordinary
resclutions and resclution 5 as a special resolution

Ordinary Resolutions

1 To receive, consider and adopt the Directors’ Report and Accounts
for the year ended 31st December 2011, together with the Auditor's
report thereon

2 To re-elect as a director Mr M L Rosser who retires by rotation
In accordance with Article 93 of the Company’s Articles of
Association and whe, being aligible, offers himself for re-election

3 Tore-appont PKF (UK) LLP of Famngdon Place, 20 Famngdon
Aoad, London EC1M 3AP, as auditors of the Company and to
authonse the Directors to determine therr remuneration

4  That the Directors be generally and uncondrtionally authonsed
pursuant to Section 551 of the Companies Act 2006 (the ‘2006 Act)
to allot shares in the Company or grant nghts to subscnbe for or to
convert any secunty into shares in the Company {'Rights’) up to an

aggregate nominal amount of £6,000,000 provided that this authonty

shall, unless previously revoked or vaned by the Company in general
meeting, expire at the conclusion of the next Annual General
Meeting of the Gompany following the date of the passing of this
resolution or (f earlier} 12 months from the date of passing this
resolution, but so that the directors may before such expiry make an
offer or agreement which would or might require relevant securites
1o be dlotted after such expiry and the directors may allot relevant
secunties in pursuance of that offer or agreement as If the authonty
hereby conferred had not expired

Thes authonty 1s in substitution for all previous authonties conferred on

the Dwectors In accordance with Section 80 of the Companies Act 1985,
or Section 551 of the 2006 Act

Special Resolution

S That, subject to the passing of Resolution 4, the Diractors be given
the general power to alot equity secunties (as defined by Section
560 of the 2006 Act) for cash, ether pursuant to the authonty
conferred by Resolution 4 or by way of a sale of treasury shares,
as 1f Section 561{1) of the 2006 Act did not apply to any such
allotment, provided that this power shall be imited to

5.1 the allotment of equity secunties in connection with an offer by way
of a nghts issue
51 1 to the holders of ordiary shares in proportion (as nearty
as may be practicable) to therr respective holdings, and
51 2 to holders of other equity secunties as required by the nghts
of those secunties or as the Directors otherwise consider
necessary, but subject to such exclusions or other
armangements as the Board may deem necessary or expechent
In relation to treasury shares, fractional entittermnents, record
dates, legal or practical problems in or under the laws of any
territory or the requirements of any regulatory body or stock
exchange, and
5.2 the aliotment (otherwise than pursuant to paragraph 5 1 above) of
equity secuntes up to an aggregate nominal amount of £6,000,000
The power granted by this resolution will unless renewed, vaned or
revoked by the Company, expire at the conclusion of the next Annual
General Meeting of the Company following the date of the passing of
this resolution or {f earber) 12 months from the date of passing this
resoluton, save that the Company may, before such expiry make
offers or agreemeants which would or might require equrty secunties
to be allotted after such expiry and the Directors may allct equity
sacunties in pursuance of any such offer or agreerment notwithstanding
that the power conferred by this resolution has expired

This resolution revokes and replaces all unexercised powers
previously granted to the Directors to allot equity securties as if
either section 89{1) of the Companies Act 1985 or section 561(1)

of tha 2006 Act did not apply, but without prejudice to any allotment
of equity secunties aready made or agreed to be made pursuant to
such authonties

The Board of Alexander Miring pic recommends that shareholders
vote in favour of all the proposed resolutions

Members or their appointed Proxies are entitled to ask questions of the
Board at the Annual General Mesting The Board will answer any such
questions unless () to do so would interfere unduty with the conduct of
the meeting or involve the disclosure of confidential information, or (i) the
answer has already been given on the Company's website, or i) to
answer such questions is contrary to the Company’s best interest or the
goad order of the meeting

By order of the Board,

-
Company Secretary
8 May 2012

Registered Office
15t Floor, 35 Piccadilly, London, WiJ ODW
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Notes to the Notice of Annual General Meeting

A member of the Company entitled to attend arxd vote at this
meeting 1s enttled to appoint one or more proxies to exercise all or
any of the member’s nghts to attend, speak and vote at the meeting,
using the attached Fommn of Proxy A proxy need not also be a
member If a member appoints more than one proxy to attend the
meeting, each proxy must be appointed to exercise the nghts
attached to a different share or shares held by the member If a
member wishes to appoint more than one proxy and so requires
additional proxy forms, the member should contact Caprta
Registrars on 0871 664 0300 (calls cost 10p per minute plus network
extras, lnes are open 8 30am - 5 30pm Mon - Fri} Completion and
retum of a Form of Proxy will not preclude a member from attending
and voting at the meeting should the membser so decide

To be valid, the Form of Proxy and any power of attorney or other
authonty under which it 1s signed {or a notanally certified copy of
such authonty) must be completed and retumed so as to reach

{} the Company’s Registrars In accordance with the reply paid detars
or (i} by hand to Capita Registrars, PXS, 34 Beckenham Road,
Beckenham, Kent, BR2 4TU not less than 48 hours befora the tme
appointed for the Annual General Meeting or any adjournment
theraof

A corporation which is a member can appoint one or more corporate
representatives who may exercise on Its behalf all of its powers as a
member, provided that they do not do so in respect of the same
shares

The Company, pursuant to resolution 41(1) of the Uncertficated
Secunties Requlations 2001, specifies that only those shareholders
registered in the register of members of the Company at 6 00p m on
12th June 2012 (or, if the meeting 1s adjourned, at 6 00p m on the
day two days pnor to the adjourned meseting) be entitled to attend
and vote at the Annual General Meeting {and for the purpose of
determuning the number of votes a member may cast) Changes to
the register of members after the relevant tme shall be disregarded
in determinung the nghts of any person to attend and vote at the
mesting

If the Chairman, as a resuit of any proxy appointments, 1s given
discretion as to how the votes the subject of those proxies are cast
and the voting nghts in respect of those discretionary proxtes, when
added to the interests in the Company's secunties already held by
the Chaimman, result in the Chairman holding such number of voting
nghts that he has a notifiable obligaton under the Disclosure and
Transparency Rules, the Chamnan will make the necessary
notifications to the Company and the Financial Services Authonty

As a resuit, any member holding 3% or more of the voting nghis in
the Company who grants the Chairman a discretionary proxy in
respect of some or all of those votng nghts and so would otherwise
have a notification obligation under the Disclosure and Transparency
Rules, need not make a separate notification to the Company and
the Financial Services Authonty

The following documents will be avalable for inspection dunng
normal business hours on any week day at the Company’s
reqisterad office up untll the date of the Annual General Meeting and
at the place of the meeting from 30 minutes before the start of the
meeting on 14th June 2012 untl the end of the meeting
[} a copy of the Memorandum and Articles of Association
of the Company,
W the contracts of service and letters of appointment between
the Company or its subsidiary undertakings and rts Directors
To appoint proxies or give/amend an instruction to an appointed
proxy via the CREST system, the CREST message must be received
by the 1ssuer’s agent {{D RA10) by 6 00p m on 12th June 2012 and
time of receipt will be taken as the time (as deterrmined by the
tmestamp applied by the CREST Applications Host) that the issuer’s
agent 1s able to retneve the message CREST Personal Members or
other CREST Sponsored Members, and CREST Members who have
appointed voting service providers, should refer to therr
sponsor/voting service provider for advice on appointing proxies via
CREST Regulation 35 of the Uncertdicated Securnties Regulations
2001 will apply to all proxy appointments sent by CREST
For information on CREST procedures and system timings,
please refer to the CREST Manual
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Form of Proxy

Proxy Form for use by holders of ordinary shares at the Annual General Meeting (the ‘AGM’) to be held on Thursday 14th June 2012
Please read the Notice of the Meeting and the accompanying explanatory notes to this Proxy Form carefully before completing this Proxy Form

IWe (block capitals please)

of

being a member/members of Alexander Mining plc, appoint the Charman of the AGM or {see Explanatory Note 2)*

as my/our proxy to exercise all or any of my/our nghts to attend, speak and vote In respact of my/our voting entitlement on my/our
behalf as indicated below at the AGM and at any adjournment thereof (see Explanatory Notes 3, 4 and 5)

|:] Please tick hera if this proxy appointment 1s one of multipte appointments being made

Resolutions F

For the appointment of more than one proxy, please refer to Explanatory Note 4 Please clearly mark the boxes below to instruct
your proxy how to vote

g

Against Vote withhetd Discretionary

Ordlnary Resolutions

HWN

Special Resolution

5

Adoption of Report and Accounts
Re-election of Mr M L Rosser
Re-appaintment of PKF (UK) LLP

Authonty to allot new shares

O oood
0O ogoo
o oggod
g oooo

Dis-application of pre-emphion nghts

Signature (see Explanatory Nota 6) Date

Emlarmtory Notes to the Proxy Form

"

As a member of the Company you are entitled 1o appoint a proxy to exercise all or any of your rights to attend, speak and vote at the AGM on your bebalf You should
appoint a pmxy using the procedurs set out in thesa Explanatory Notes

A proxy need not be a member of the Compary but must attend the meeting to represent you If you wish 1o appoint as a proxy a person other than the Chauyman of the
AGM please delete the words ‘the Chalrman of the AGM' and insert the full name of the other person in the box provided on this Proxy Form  If you sigh and retumn this
Proxy Form with no name inserted in the box, the Chairman of the AGM will be deermed to be your proxy If the proxy ts being apported in relation to less than your full
voting entitiernent, please enter in the box next to the proxy holder’s name the number of shares in relation to which they are authonsed 1o act as your proxy If left blank
your praxy will be deemed to be autharised in respect of your full voting entitlement (or if this Proxy Form has been issued n respect of a designated account for a
sharehalder, the full voting entitlement for that designated account)

The completion and return of this Proxy Formn will not prevent you from attending in person and voting at the AGM should you subsequently decide to do so However,
f you have appointed a proxy and attend the meeting in person, your proxy appointment will automatically be terminated

You are entrtled to appoint more than one proxy provided that each proxy 15 appointed to exertise rights attached to a different share or shares heid by you You may not
appont more than one proxy to exercise rights attached to any one share To appoin more than one proxy please use a photocopy of this form or contact Capia
Registrars on 0871 564 0300 (cal's cost 10p per minute plus network extras Iines are open 8 30am — 5 30pm Mon - Frd) Please indicate in the box next to the proxy
holder’s name the number cf shares in relation to which they are authorised to act as your proxy Please alsc indicate by ticking the box provided if the proxy instruction
= one of multiple instructions beng given All forms must be signed and should be retumed together in the same envelope

if you wish your proxy to cast all of your votes for or aganst a resolution you shouid insert an 'X' in the appropriate box. If you wish your proxy to cast only certain votes for
and certaln votes aganst, nsert the relevant number of shares in the appropriate box. The “Vote Withheld' option Is prowided to enable you to instruct your proxy to abstan
from voting on a parbcular resofution A “Vote Withheld' s not a vote In law and will not be counted in the calcutation of the proportion of the votes ‘For’ or Against' a
resofuticn. The ‘Discretonary” option 1s provided to enable you to grve discretion 1o your proxy to vats or abstamn from voting on a parboutar resolution as he or she thinks
fit. In the absence of instructons, your proxy may vote or abstan from voting as he or she thinks fit on the specified resoiutons and, unless instructed otherwise may also
vote or abstain from voting as he or she thinks fit on any other business {inchuding on a moben to amend a resohubon 1o propose a new resciution or to adjourn the AGM)
which may properly come before the AGM

Thus Praxy Form must be signed by the member or hissher attormey Whera the member s a cerporation, the Proxy Form must be executed under its commen seal

or signed by a duly authonsed representative of the corporation, stating ther capacty (e g diector, secretary) In the case of jint holders, any one halder may sign this
Proxy Form The vate of the senior joint holder {whether 1n person or by proxy) will be taken to the excluslon of all others, senonty bemng determined by the order in which
the names stand in the reg of m n respect of the jont haiding

To be valid, the Form of Proxy and any power of attorney or other authorty under which it s signed (or a notarlally certified copy of such authonty) must be completed and
returnad so as 1o reach () the Company's Registrars in accordance with the reply pald details {if) or by hand to Caprta Regstrars, PXS, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenharn,
Kent, BR3 4T not less than 48 hours befora the time appointed for the meeting

Pursuant to Regulation 41 of the Uncertificated Secuntes Regulations 2001, entitlernent to attend and vote at the AGM and the number of votes which may be cast
thereat will be determned by reference to the register of members of the Company at 6pm on the day which 1s two days before the day of the AGM or adjouned
mestng Changes to entnes on the register of members after that time shall be disregarded in determining the rights of any person to attend and vote at the meeting
Al alterations made to this Proxy Form must be walled by the signatory

If you submit more than one valid proxy appontment in respect of the same share or shares, the appointment recerved last before the latest time for the receipt of praxies
will take precedence: If the Company Is unable to determine which was received last, none of the proxy appomtmernts n respect of that share er shares shall be valid
Shares held i uncertficated form (i e. n CREST) may be voted through the CREST Proxy Voting Service n accordance with the procedures set out i the CREST manual.
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